



# LIBRARY Michigan State University

This is to certify that the dissertation entitled

# ENDOTHELIAL PROGENITOR CELL DYSFUNCTION CONTRIBUTES TO IMPAIRED WOUND HEALING IN DIABETES MELLITUS

presented by

Eric J. Marrotte

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for the

Ph.D. degree in Cell and Molecular Biology Major Professor's Signature a-12,2009  $/V_{1}$ Date

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer

## PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due. MAY BE RECALLED with earlier due date if requested.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

5/08 K:/Proj/Acc&Pres/CIRC/DateDue indd

-

## ENDOTHELIAL PROGENITOR CELL DYSFUNCTION CONTRIBUTES TO IMPAIRED WOUND HEALING IN DIABETES MELLITUS

By

Eric J. Marrotte

.

## A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Cell and Molecular Biology

#### ABSTRACT

#### ENDOTHELIAL PROGENITOR CELL DYSFUNCTION CONTRIBUTES TO IMPAIRED WOUND HEALING IN DIABETES MELLITUS

#### By

#### Eric J. Marrotte

Impaired wound healing in diabetic patients is a significant clinical problem that frequently results in amputation. Inadequate angiogenesis is a key factor that contributes to poor wound healing in diabetes mellitus. Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) induce angiogenesis at the site of wound healing and are dysfunctional in persons with diabetes. However, the mechanisms of EPC dysfunction in diabetes are poorly understood. Normal EPCs express intrinsically high levels of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) which makes them resistant to oxidative stress. Hyperglycemia in diabetes causes an elevated systemic oxidative stress. We measured the expression level of antioxidant enzymes and found that MnSOD expression in EPCs isolated from type 2 diabetic mice (db/db) was significantly decreased with a concomitant increase in oxidative stress. Dysfunction of EPCs was significantly improved upon ex vivo MnSOD gene therapy both in vitro and in vivo. To determine the therapeutic effect of EPCs on wound healing in diabetic mice, EPCs from normal and diabetic animals were transplanted to full thickness excisional wounds in mice with type 2 diabetes. The EPCs from non-diabetic animals were significantly more effective at rescuing impaired wound healing than EPCs from diabetic animals. Doubling the number of transplanted EPCs from diabetic animals significantly accelerated the rate of wound healing, however, not to the

extent achieved by an equal number of normal EPCs. Transplantation of EPCs from diabetic animals transfected with MnSOD ex *vivo* resulted in significantly enhanced *in vivo* angiogenesis and accelerated wound healing rate. What is more important, there was a synergistic effect between the number and function of transplanted EPCs when used to induce regeneration in the impaired wound healing found in diabetes mellitus healing. These results indicate that the number of EPCs transplanted, as well as their functional ability, play a significant role in wound healing in diabetic animals.

Copyright by Eric J. Marrotte 2009

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First I would like to acknowledge my mentor, Dr. Alex Chen, for his guidance, insight and support throughout my graduate training. The knowledge and experience that I have gained from working with Dr. Chen will greatly help me navigate through my career as a physician-scientist.

I would also like to also thank my committee members Drs. Andrea Amalfitano, Steven Arnoczky, Justin McCormick and Karl Olson. I am grateful for their guidance throughout this study.

I would like to thank the faculty and graduates students of the Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology for the support and advice they provided to me throughout my graduate training.

I would like to thank Dr. Veronica Maher and Justin McCormick the Co-Directors of the DO/PhD program. I appreciate the guidance they have both provided to me throughout my graduate career.

Most important of all, I would like to thank my wife, Carol, and son, Andrew. I am extremely grateful for all of their love, support and patience.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	<b>viii</b>
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	<b>.x</b>
CHAPTER 1: General Introduction	1
I. Diabetes mellitus	2
A. Epidemiology	2
B. Diagnosis	2
C. Type 1 Diabetes	3
D. Treatment of Type 1 Diabetes	4
E. Type 2 Diabetes	4
F. Treatment of Type 2 Diabetes	6
G. Complications	7
H. Impaired Wound Healing in Patients	
with Diabetes Mellitus	7
II. Wound Healing Phases	8
A. Phase I: Inflammation	8
B. Phase II: Proliferation	10
C. Phase III: Maturation	11
III. Wound Healing in Diabetes Mellitus	12
A. Keratinocyte Dysfunction	12
B. Fibroblast Dysfunction	13
C. Macrophage Dysfunction	14
IV. Angiogenesis in Diabetes	14
V. The Discovery of Endothelial Progenitor Cells	16
VI. The Basic Function of Endothelial Progenitor Cells	17
A. Signaling of Injured/Ischemic Tissue	18
B. EPC Mobilization from the Bone Marrow	19
C. EPC Homing/Localization to the	
site of Injury/Ischemia	19
VII. Endothelial Progenitor Cell Dysfunction in Diabetes	20
VIII. Mechanism of EPC Dysfunction in Diabetes	22
A. Impaired Adhesion	
B. Impaired Proliferation	
C. EPCs and Oxidative Stress	24
IX. I nerapeutic use of Endothelial Progenitor Cells	27
X. Current Diabetic wound Healing Therapy	30
A. Adjunct I nerapies for Diabetic Wound Healing	32
XI. Research Goals	34

CHAPTER 2: Determination of the circulating level and
physiologic ROS of EPCs in type 2 diabetic mice
Abstract40
Background41
Methods43
Results
Discussion
CHAPTER 3: MnSOD expression is diminished in EPCs
isolated from type 2 diabetic mice
Abstract
Background54
Methods
Results
Discussion73
CHAPTER 4: Diminished MnSOD expression contributes to
endothelial progenitor cell dysfunction in type 2 diabetes76
Abstract
Background78
Methods80
Results
Discussion87
CHAPTER 5: Partial Restoration of endothelial progenitor cell function
with manganese superoxide dismutase gene transfer in
type 2 diabetic wound healing
Abstract90
Background91
Methods94
Results
Discussion118
CHAPTER6: Summary and Perspective123
Appendix
References

# LIST OF FIGURES

# Images in this dissertation are presented in color.

Figure 1	The circulating level of EPCs was significantly decreased in T2D (db/db) mice46
Figure 2	Type 2 diabetic mice demonstrate increased   oxidative stress in circulating EPCs   48
Figure 3	Qualitative analysis of bone marrow-derived cells demonstrating they have the characteristics of EPC isolation
Figure 4	Expression of MnSOD mRNA is diminished in EPCs isolated from T2D mice
Figure 5	MnSOD protein level is diminished in EPCs isolated from T2D mice
Figure 6	Adenoviral transduction of bone marrow derived EPCs
Figure 7	Hyperglycemia increases mitochondrial ROS levels in EPCs
Figure 8	MnSOD gene transfer decreased ROS levels in EPCs incubated in high glucose EGM-272
Figure 9	EPCs isolated from type 2 diabetic mice demonstrated impaired adhesion
Figure 10	MnSOD gene therapy improves the functional activity of EPCs isolated from T2D mice
Figure 11	EPCs isolated from type 2 diabetic mice demonstrated impaired migration
Figure 12	EPC cell therapy of diabetic wounds improves the rate of wound healing in T2D mice101
Figure 13	MnSOD gene therapy of db/db-EPCs prior to transplantation improved that ability of db/db-EPC to induce wound healing
Figure 14	The number and functional activity of EPC work

	synergistically to improve wound healing105
Figure 15	All wound healing groups107
Figure 16	EPC therapy improves angiogenesis in mouse skin after wounding109
Figure 17	Transplanted EPCs integrate into the skin and vasculature
Figure 18	Model of EPC therapy for diabetic wound healing117
Figure 19	Flow cytometric analysis of bone marrow derived EPCs132

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Akt	Protein kinase B
Ad-GFP	Adenovirus-green fluorescent protein
Ad-MnSOD	Adenovirus-manganese superoxide dismutase
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
β-gal	Beta-galacotsidase
BH4	(6R)-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-L-biopterin
BrdU	5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine
Са	Calcium
CD14	Cluster Designation 14
CD31	Cluster Designation 31 (PECAM-1)
CD34	Cluster Designation 34/stem cell marker
Cd133	Cluster Designation 133/stem cell marker
CDC	Centers for Disease Control
c-kit	Receptor tyrosine kinase Kit
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon dioxide
CuZnSOD	Copper zinc superoxide dismutase
db/+	Normal mice
db/+-EPC	Normal endothelial progenitor cells
db/db	Type 2 diabetic mice

db/db-EPC	Diabetic endothelial progenitor cells
DHE	Dihydroethidium
Dil-Ac-LDL	Acetylated low density lipoprotein
DM	Diabetes mellitus
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epithelial growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EGM-2	Endothelial growth media-2
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
EPC	Endothelial progenitor cell
EPO	Erythropoietin
E-selectin	Endothelial adhesion molecule 1
FADH2	Flavin adenine dinucleotide
FCS	Fetal Calf Serum
Flk-1	Vascular endothelial growth factor-2 receptor
G-CSF	Granulocytic colony stimulating factor
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
Gpx-1	Glutathione peroxidase type 1

HBSS	Balanced Salt Solutions
HG-EGM-2	High glucose endothelial growth media-2
HIF-1α	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha
HIF-2β	Hypoxia-inducible factor 2 beta
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
IL-1	Interleukin-1
IL-6	Interleukin-6
K1	Keratin1
K2	Keratin2
KGF-1	Keratinocyte growth factor-1
KGF-2	Keratinocyte growth factor-2
МАРК	Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase
Mg	Magnesium
mkitL	Membrane-bound kit ligand
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinases
MnSOD	Manganese superoxide dismutase
MOI	Multiplicity of Infection
N <sub>2</sub> O	Nitrous oxide
NAD(P)H	Nicotinomide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NO	Nitric oxide

O <sup>-</sup> 2	Superoxide
O <sub>2</sub>	Oxygen
ONOO-	Peroxynitrite
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDGF	Platelet derived growth factor
PECAM-1	Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SAS	Statistical analysis software
Sca-1	Stem cell antigen-1
SDF-1α	Stromal derived factor-1 alpha
SHH	Sonic hedge hog
siRNA	Short interfering ribonucleic acid
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
TGF-α	Transforming growth factor-alpha
TGF-β1	Transforming growth factor-beta1
Tie-2	Protein Receptor Tyrosine Kinase-Epithelial-Specific
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha

.

TSP-1	Thrombospondin-1
TXD	Transplanted
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
vWF	von Willebrand factor

# **CHAPTER 1**

.

# **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

#### I. Diabetes mellitus

#### A. Epidemiology

It is estimated by the Centers for Disease Control that 23.6 million people in the United States have diabetes mellitus (DM) (1-3). The two most common types of diabetes are type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (1-3). T1DM, previously referred to as insulin dependent diabetes, accounts for 5% to 10% of patients with DM (1-3). T2DM, previously referred to as non-insulin dependent diabetes, accounts for 90% to 95% of patients with DM (1-3). The remaining 1% to 5% of DM cases are caused by infection, surgery, pancreatitis, medication and gestational diabetes (1-3).

#### **B. Diagnosis**

Diabetes mellitus is a metabolic disease in which elevated blood glucose level leads to glycemic-induced pathology (1-6). A patient with new onset DM may present clinically with lethargy, polydipsia and polyuria. To confirm the diagnosis of DM, laboratory tests are performed to measure the level of blood glucose on two separate days (1). The current standard guidelines used for the diagnosis of diabetes are as follows: a fasting elevated blood glucose level greater than or equal to 126 mg/dL, or a random non-fasting blood glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than or equal to 200 mg/dL, or a 2 hour plasma glucose level greater than 0 hour equal to 200 hour equal to

mg/dL during a glucose tolerance test (1, 6).

#### C. Type 1 Diabetes

The onset of T1DM typically occurs prior to the age of 25 years old (6). In patients with T1DM, the number of insulin-producing  $\beta$ -islet cells in the pancreas is significantly reduced (1, 7, 8). The subsequent decreased level of circulating insulin results in hyperglycemia. The mechanisms that cause a decrease in the number of  $\beta$ -islets in the pancreas in T1DM are incompletely understood. Nevertheless, T1DM is associated with the expression of human leukocyte antigen DR3, DR4, and DQ, indicating that genetics plays a role in the development of the disease (6, 7). Environmental factors may also contribute to a decrease in pancreatic *β*-islets. This is indicated by the fact that the concordance rate for identical twins with diabetes is 42% to 50% rather than 100% (6, 9). An autoimmune process may be the major cause of T1DM because destruction of  $\beta$ -islets results from lymphocytic infiltration, and autoantibodies against the β-islet cells can be found in the majority of patients with T1DM (1, 7, 8). The destruction of  $\beta$ -islets may progress rapidly or take several years (1). In patients with T1DM, hyperglycemia does not become evident until approximately 80% of the  $\beta$ -islet cells have been destroyed (1), at which point, insulin therapy is required to maintain euglycemia (1, 10).

#### **D. Treatment of Type 1 Diabetes**

Insulin therapy is the primary treatment for T1DM patients (1, 11). Ideally, a patient should maintain his or her blood glucose level within a narrow range. The overall therapeutic goal in T1DM is to maintain a preprandial glucose level of 90–130 mg/dL and a peak postprandial glucose level of less than 180 mg/dL. Glycosylated hemoglobin, hemoglobin A1C (HgbA1C), is measured to determine the average blood glucose level over a three month period. The goal of a patient with DM is to maintain his or her HgbA1C at less than 7% (1, 11). An HgbA1C of 7% correlates with an average blood glucose level of 172 mg/dL (12, 13). There are several different insulin preparations available to treat hyperglycemia. They can be classified into two main categories, short acting which last 3-6 hours and long acting which last 10-24 hours (1, 11). Short-acting insulin is used to mimic physiologic insulin release after meals; long-acting insulin is used to mimic the basal insulin physiologic levels between meals (1).

#### E. Type 2 Diabetes

In T2DM, insulin resistance occurs in key metabolic tissue, such as skeletal muscle, adipose tissue and the liver, additionally, the level of insulin secretion from the pancreas is insufficient to compensate for the acquired resistance found in these tissues (1, 4, 5, 8). The combination of insulin resistance and inadequate insulin secretion leads to hyperglycemia (1, 4, 5). Cells respond to

insulin by upregulation of the glucose transporter isoform (Glut 4), which leads to the subsequent uptake of glucose (4, 14, 15). The mechanisms that lead to insulin resistance are not completely understood. However, emerging evidence suggests that impairment of GLUT 4 is a key factor (4, 14, 15).

Obesity is common in T2DM patients and plays a major role in the development of this disease (1, 2, 4, 5). Calorie intake that supersedes calorie expenditure can lead to adipocytes that have undergone hyperphagic-induced hypertrophy. Adjpocytes that have undergone hyperphagic-induced hypertrophy secrete monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) (4, 14, 15). Monocytes respond to MCP-1 by infiltrating adipose tissue. These monocytes then secrete tumor necrosis factor (TNF- $\alpha$ ) (4, 16, 17). TNF- $\alpha$  then deleteriously affects adipocytes by inhibiting triglyceride uptake and promoting free fatty acid secretion (FFA) (4, 16, 17). In addition, TNF- $\alpha$  causes insulin resistance in adjocytes by impairment of the GLUT 4 transporter (4, 15). The combination of hyperphagia and the release of FFA from adipocytes further lead to hyperlipidemia and subsequent accumulation of FFA in skeletal muscle (4). Accumulation of FFA leads to insulin resistance in skeletal muscle via impairment of the Glut 4 transporter (4, 14, 15), as well as the reduction of levels of the insulin receptor in skeletal muscle (4, 18). In hepatocytes, insulin normally suppresses gluconeogenesis (1, 5). In T2DM, however, hepatocytes develop insulin resistance, which leads to excessive glucose production (1, 4, 5). In addition, the increase in circulating FFA released from adipocytes leads to increased

hepatocyte production of low-density lipids (LDLs) (1, 4). At the onset of type 2 diabetes,  $\beta$ -islets cells respond to hyperglycemia with increased secretion of insulin, leading to hyperinsulinemia (1, 4, 5). However, with insulin resistance, the elevated insulin response is insufficient to compensate for the elevated level of glucose. Insulin resistance in the liver, adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle, combined with insufficient insulin secretion to compensate for insulin resistance, lead to T2DM (4, 5).

#### F. Treatment of Type 2 Diabetes

As described above, obesity plays a significant role in the development of T2DM. Therefore, nutritional therapy, exercise and weight loss are an integral part of therapy for T2DM patients (1, 6). Mechanistically, insulin resistances, combined with insufficient blood insulin levels, are the main pathophysiological processes that lead to hyperglycemia (1, 4-6). Therefore, based on these mechanisms, several classes of drugs have been developed to modulate blood glucose levels to promote normoglycemia. These include drugs that increase insulin secretion (Sulfonylureas, Repaglinide and Nateglinide), reduce glucose production (Biguanides), decrease glucose absorption (Alpha-Glucosidase Inhibitors), or increase insulin sensitivity (Thiazolidinediones) (1). In T2DM, hyperglycemia may lead to hyperinsulinemia at the onset of the disease (1, 5). T2DM is a progressive disorder and over time, insulin secretion from the beta-islet cells diminishes or fails, at which point insulin therapy is required (1, 5). As with

T1DM, the overall goal of therapy is to maintain a hemoglobin A1C (HgbA1C) of less than 7% (1).

#### G. Complications

T1DM and T2DM share similar signs and symptoms such as polyuria and polydipsia (1, 6). Patients with T1DM tend to be slim, whereas, patients with T2DM tend to be obese (1, 6). DM-specific complications may be present in up to 20–50% of individuals with newly diagnosed T2DM. Multiple complications commonly arise in patients with either T1DM or T2DM. These include retinopathy, chronic kidney disease, vasculopathy, cardiomyopathy, neuropathy, periodontitis and impaired wound healing (1, 2).

#### H. Impaired Wound Healing in Patients with Diabetes Mellitus

It has been estimated that 15-25% of patients with DM develop foot ulcers (19). A recent five-year long prospective study, performed by Boyko et al., (20) found that patients with DM who developed foot ulcers presented with an average hemoglobin A1C% (HgbA1C) of 11.8±3.4% compared to 9.5±3.0% in patients who did not develop ulcers (P<0.001). This correlates with an average glucose level of 315 mg/dL over a 2-3 month period for patients who developed ulcers, compared to 262 mg/dL in patients who did not (4, 5). Another factor that significantly contributes to ulcer formation is duration of the disease. Patients

who developed ulcers had been diagnosed with diabetes for  $12.6\pm10$  years, whereas patients in which ulcers did not develop had been diagnosed  $10.0\pm9.3$  years previously (P<0.001) (20). Whether the type of diabetes (T1DM or T2DM) contributes to wound healing is still unclear (20). However, in a study by Benotmane et al., it was found that 89.39% of diabetic patients presenting in a wound clinic were diagnosed with T2DM, whereas 10.61% of patients were diagnosed with T1DM (21). Despite aggressive therapy of patients with DM that develop ulcers, 14% to 24% will present with non-healing wounds and undergo amputation within their lifetime (19). In the United States alone, impaired wound healing in patients with DM leads to over 72,000 amputations each year (2, 3).

#### **II. Wound Healing Phases**

#### A. Phase I: Inflammation

Wound healing is a complex process that can be described in three overlapping phases: inflammation, proliferation and remodeling (22-24). These three different phases involve the interplay of many different cell types including: platelets, endothelial cells, neutrophils, macrophages, mast cells, lymphocytes, fibroblasts, keratinocytes and bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) (22-27). In inflammation, the first phase of wound healing, white blood cells (WBCs), such as neutrophils and macrophages, infiltrate the injured site and clear debris and microbes. Immediately after injury, mast cells respond to both

cytokines released by injured tissue, and to mechanical force by releasing Histamine causes vascular permeability and subsequent histamine (28). extravasation of fluid into the interstitial space (23). Increased vascular permeability allows for migration of WBCs from the vascular space into the site of injury (23, 28). Infiltration by WBCs is promoted through the release of inflammation cytokines, such as interleukin-1 (IL-1) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), from injured tissue (23). IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  induce endothelial cell expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), and platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule (PECAM-1, CD31) (23, 24). Endothelial cell surface expression of VCAM-1, ICAM-1, and PECAM-1 allow neutrophils to bind to the endothelial cells of nearby capillaries and migrate to the site of injury (diapedesis) (23, 24). Within the wound, neutrophils digest and clear bacteria and nonviable tissue from the area. Within 48 to 96 hours, monocytes enter the wound and differentiate into macrophages (23, 24). Macrophages continue to phagocytose debris, bacteria, and necrotic tissue throughout the remainder of the inflammation phase (23, 24).

Regeneration of the injured tissue occurs after attenuation of the inflammatory response (23). The mechanism for inflammation attenuation is poorly understood (23). However, emerging evidence suggests that lipoxins play a role in inflammation attenuation (23, 29). As neutrophils infiltrate the wound, they release arachidonate (23). Arachidonate is subsequently converted to lipoxins

via the enzyme 15-lipoxygenase (23). Lipoxins then bind to their receptors, ALXR, and block the neutrophil influx to the site of injury, and in this way reduce inflammation (23, 29).

#### **B. Phase II: Proliferation**

The proliferation phase is initiated during the inflammation phase. In the proliferation phase, regeneration/repair of the injured site occurs through cellular proliferation, which leads to barrier formation and nascent blood vessels (23, 24). Barrier formation, which prevents microbial invasion into the wound and fluid extravasation from the wound, occurs with epithelialization and the formation of a connective tissue matrix (22-25). The coordination of keratinocyte and fibroblast proliferation and migration is initiated via cells that infiltrate the wound during the inflammation phase, such as activated platelets and macrophages. Activated platelets and macrophages release epithelial growth factor (EGF) and transforming growth factor-alpha (TGF- $\alpha$ ), which subsequently stimulate keratinocytes at the wound edges to migrate and proliferate (23-25). Fibroblasts respond to inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$ , by releasing keratinocyte growth factor-1 (KGF-1), KGF-2 and IL-6. This release of KGF-1, KGF-2, and IL-6 by fibroblasts further promotes keratinocyte migration into the wound, proliferation and differentiation (23, 30). During the proliferation phase of wound healing, fibroblasts synthesize and release type III collagen and fibronectin, in response to the TGF- $\beta$ 1 released by activated macrophages, an action that

contributes to barrier formation. Some fibroblasts will further differentiate into myofibroblasts, aiding in the contraction of the wound (24, 25). The complex process of wound healing involves the coordination of many different cell types, as described above, which leads to the formation of a barrier and prevents the leakage of fluid and microbe infiltration.

Nascent blood vessel formation allows for perfusion to take place in and around a healing wound, which is necessary for the delivery of nutrients, oxygen and removal of toxic metabolites (22, 31-35). This angiogenesis, which is induced by endothelial progenitor cells (described below), is initiated during the inflammation phase, and continues in the proliferation phase (23, 25, 36). Normal angiogenesis promotes wound healing, whereas impairment of angiogenesis leads to impaired wound healing (22, 31-35).

#### C. Phase III: Maturation

The final phase of wound healing is termed "remodeling" or "maturation" (22, 23, 25). In this phase, fibroblasts, macrophages and endothelial cells release matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) which break down type III collagen (24, 25). In addition, fibroblasts release TGF- $\beta$ , as an autocrine factor, which causes them to produce type I collagen. Remodeling typically lasts for 6-12 months (24, 25). During this time, type III collagen is replaced by type I collagen, which strengthens the protective barrier.

#### III. Wound Healing in Diabetes Mellitus

Wound healing is a complex process, as is the pathophysiology that leads to impaired wound healing in patients with diabetes mellitus. The rate of wound healing in patients with diabetes is significantly slower than that of non-diabetic patients (37-39). Several factors lead to impaired wound healing in patients with diabetes. These include cellular dysfunction, chronic inflammation, impaired angiogenesis and vascular disease (33, 38, 39). Specific cellular dysfunction occurs in keratinocytes, fibroblasts, macrophages described below, and EPCs (described several pages further on) have been found to contribute to poor wound healing in diabetes (31, 33, 34, 36, 38, 39).

#### A. Keratinocyte Dysfunction

Proliferation and migration of keratinocytes is required for epithelialization, which contributes to barrier formation within a wound. In impaired wound healing in diabetes, keratinocyte dysfunction can lead to the formation of a callus around the wound edge, rather than barrier formation. Usui et al. found that an increased number of keratinocytes isolated from wounds of diabetics (henceforth referred to as diabetic wounds) express Ki67 (a marker of cell proliferation) compared to normal wounds (40). Keratin proteins K2 and K10 are normally expressed in mature keratinocytes. However, Usui et al. (40) also found that K2 and K10 are not expressed in keratinocytes isolated from diabetic wounds.

Several other studies have found that keratinocytes isolated from diabetic wounds (henceforth referred to as diabetic keratinocytes) exhibit decreased migration (41, 42). The response of diabetic keratinocytes to cytokines and growth factor is also impaired (43). Mechanistically, this may occur from diminished expression of receptors, such as the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) (43). Taken together, these studies suggest that hyperproliferation, impaired cytokine response and synthesis, as well as diminished migration of diabetic keratinocytes, lead to impaired barrier formation and the development of a callus at the edge of a diabetic wound.

#### **B. Fibroblast Dysfunction**

The formation of newly synthesized connective tissue is necessary to form the extracellular matrix (ECM), which contributes to the nascent barrier during wound healing (44, 45). Fibroblasts are necessary for the production of the ECM (44, 45). However, fibroblasts from patients with DM (henceforth referred to as diabetic fibroblasts) have been found to produce increased levels of MMP-9, which leads to degradation of the ECM in diabetic wounds and contributes to delayed wound healing (44, 45). Fibroblasts isolated from diabetic wounds demonstrate decreased proliferation and migration and a diminished response to growth factors and cytokines such as TGF- $\beta$ 1 and PDGF (46, 47). Kim et al. showed that expression of the type 2 receptor for TGF- $\beta$ 1 is decreased in fibroblasts isolated from patients with DM (46). As with diabetic keratinocytes,

diminished expression of extracellular receptors, by diabetic fibroblast, may contribute to an impaired response to cytokines. In addition, production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and stromal-derived factor-1 alpha (SDF-1 $\alpha$ ) by fibroblasts in DM is reduced (48). Consequently, diminished levels of VEGF and SDF-1 $\alpha$  is thought to impair the necessary mobilization of EPCs to the site of injury and the induction of the angiogenesis needed in wound repair (48). Therefore, the dysfunction found in diabetic fibroblasts leads to both impaired barrier formation and impaired angiogenesis.

#### C. Macrophage Dysfunction

The dysfunction of macrophages in wound healing in diabetes also contributes to delayed wound repair (49, 50). The role of macrophages in wound healing is to release growth factors and cytokines, as well as to phagocytose debris and microbes (23, 24). In diabetes, macrophages demonstrate diminished phagocytosis (49). The number of macrophages and the level of cytokines produced by macrophages, such as VEGF, are decreased in wounds of diabetic patients compared to normal wounds (47).

#### IV. Angiogenesis in Diabetes

In diabetes, the overall coordination of wound healing is disrupted (25). Cell-cell interactions and the production of growth factors, cytokines, connective

tissue, and the responses of cells are all necessary for the complex process of wound healing to take place. As described above, wound healing requires multiple cell types working in concert. In diabetes, wound healing is disrupted by defects in the function of keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and macrophages (37, 40-42, 44-50). Although multiple mechanisms contribute to impaired wound healing in diabetes, impaired angiogenesis remains a critical step in this process that can lead to delayed wound healing.

Angiogenesis and subsequent blood flow (perfusion) to an injured site is the sine gua non of wound healing. Impaired angiogenesis in diabetic wound healing leads to reduced perfusion and subsequent impaired delivery of nutrients, a reduction in the removal of toxic metabolites, and a loss in the ability of progenitor cells and WBCs to home to the wound site (22, 31-35, 39). Impaired perfusion also leads to tissue hypoxia (22, 31-35, 39). The effects of impaired perfusion are profound and ultimately lead to tissue necrosis and colonization of the wound with microbes. The importance of the microcirculation is evident in patients with diabetes that have microvascular pathology. Diabetic patients demonstrate significant vascular disease in both the microcirculation (capillaries and arterioles) and the macrocirculation (arteries). Therapeutic re-vascularization of limbs in patients with DM is possible if the problem is in the macrocirculation. For example, if decreased blood flow is found in one of the major blood vessels in the leg, such as the popliteal artery, or in the foot, such as the pedal artery, a surgical bypass can be performed (22, 31-35, 39). This, will

return blood flow to the foot. However, in cases where microcirculation pathology exists in and around the wound, surgical bypass of a larger vessel will have no therapeutic effect, because perfusion of the wound will remain impaired, antimicrobial therapy will be ineffective, and tissue necrosis/infection will develop (22, 31-35, 39). In these "no option" patients, the only remaining clinical therapy is amputation (22, 31-35, 39). Because EPCs, the primary cells responsible for the induction of angiogenesis and vascular repair, have been found to be dysfunctional in diabetic patients, it is possible that improving the function of EPC from such patients could lead to novel therapies to enhance would healing.

#### V. The Discovery of Endothelial Progenitor Cells

In 1997, a landmark study by Asahara et al., entitled Isolation of Putative Progenitor Endothelial Cells for Angiogenesis was published in Science (51). Prior to this study, it was understood that new blood vessel formation occurred from the branching and extension of existing blood vessels, and that repair of the intimal layer only occurred as the result of action of pre-existing endothelial cells (36). Asahara et al. (51) reported for the first time the existence of a circulating progenitor/stem cell population that could integrate into solid tissue and induce regeneration. These investigators isolated circulating CD34 (stem cell marker) positive cells from humans and cultured them on fibronectin-coated plates. They found that these cells share similar spindle shape morphology with endothelial cells. well endothelial cell markers. as as several such as

1'-dioleyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethylindocarbocyanin-acetylated-low-density lipoprotein (Dil-Ac-LDL) uptake, isolectin binding (BS-1 lectin), and expression of Flk-1 (vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2); CD31 (platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1), Tie-2, E-selectin (Endothelial adhesion molecule 1) and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS). To determine whether these cells integrate into the vasculature, the isolated cells were injected into immunodeficient nude mice that had undergone hind limb ischemia. The injected cells were found to be incorporated into capillaries and small arteries. These cells, first described in this publication (51), have been termed endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), and are a heterogeneous group of bone marrow-derived cells that migrate through the circulation to the site of injury/ischemia and repair injured vessels through re-endothelization and/or promoting neo-vascularization (36, 52).

#### **VI. The Basic Function of Endothelial Progenitor Cells**

Since the original study published by Asahara et al. (51), it has become clear that EPCs are a heterogeneous group of cells that can be identified by several markers (53-65), and as a result, different methods for identifying isolated EPCs have arisen. In humans, CD34/CD133/Vascular endothelial growth factor-2 receptor (Flk-1) positive cells are commonly classified as EPCs (53, 57). Several other markers in various combinations have also been used to identify EPCs. These include CD14, vWF (von Willebrand factor), CD31, Tie-2

(angiopoietin receptor) and c-kit (stem cell factor receptor) (53, 58, 59, 61, 63-65). In mice, Sca-1 (stem cell antigen)/Flk-1 positive cells (56) or Flk-1 positive cells alone (54) are defined as EPCs. In both humans and mice, dual labeling of cells with Dil-acLDL uptake and lection binding (BS-1 lection or Isolating B<sub>4</sub>) have been the accepted methods to confirm EPC isolation (36, 51, 55, 60, 62, 64). Regardless of the method used to identify EPCs, the most important functional characteristic is their ability to induce angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo (26, 66-70). EPCs mobilization, migration, and adhesion/integration, are critical for the induction of angiogenesis and tissue repair (26, 55, 60, 66-97).

#### A. Signaling of Injured/Ischemic Tissue

Upon the formation of an ischemic area or injury, several molecular mechanisms orchestrate the involvement of EPCs in regenerating the injured tissue. Within injured or hypoxic tissue, the intracellular degradation of the transcription factor Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) is inhibited (77, 94), allowing it to dimerize with Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 beta (HIF-1 $\beta$ ) (77, 94). This heterodimer then binds to the enhancers of SDF-1 $\alpha$  and VEGF genes, upregulating SDF-1 $\alpha$  and VEGF expression. VEGF and SDF-1 $\alpha$  are then released into the vasculature as EPC chemoattractants (38, 54, 77, 81, 94). VEGF and other cytokines induce the formation of new vasculature in and around the wound, in part by mobilizing EPCs from the bone marrow; EPCs then play a significant role in neo-vascularization (54, 56, 59, 63-65). Mobilization, homing

and migration of EPCs from the bone marrow are elicited by the release of several cytokines, including VEGF, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), granulocytic colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) and SDF-1 $\alpha$ . These cytokines are derived from several different cell types involved in wound repair such as, platelets (VEGF, SDF-1 $\alpha$ , PDGF), fibroblasts (VEGF, SDF-1 $\alpha$ ), macrophages (VEGF, G-CSF, PDGF), keratinocytes (VEGF, SDF-1 $\alpha$ ), mature endothelial cells (VEGF) and EPCs (VEGF, SDF-1 $\alpha$ ) (25, 27, 98).

#### **B. EPC Mobilization from the Bone Marrow**

In the bone marrow, EPCs are bound to the stroma via the membrane bound mkitL (38, 54, 74, 78). An increase in SDF-1 $\alpha$  and VEGF from the injured/ischemic site increases the activation of eNOS in bone marrow stromal cells, which causes upregulation of MMP-9 production (38, 54, 74, 78). MMP-9 cleaves mkitL, releasing EPCs from the stem cell niche of the bone marrow. Increased permeability of the vasculature through MMP-9 activity may also allow for transmigration of EPCs from the bone marrow into the vasculature (38, 54, 74, 78).

# C. Homing/Localization of Endothelial Progenitor Cells to the Site of Injury/Ischemia

Upon release from the bone marrow, EPCs enter the circulation and localize
in the injured/ischemic tissue. As described above, chemoattractants (VEGF, SDF-1 $\alpha$ , PDGF, G-CSF) aid in the localization of EPCs to the site of injury (54, 74). EPCs are also localized to an injured area via the expression of E and P selectins on endothelial cells (74). EPCs express CD31 and integrins  $\alpha v\beta 3$  and  $\alpha v\beta 5$  (74, 97), which aid in the adhesion of EPCs to the site of injury/ischemia. In addition, SDF-1 $\alpha$ , itself, has been shown to play a significant role in localizing EPCs to the site of injury (36, 62, 74). Therefore, migration of EPCs into the injured tissue occurs as a result of the response of EPCs to VEGF and SDF-1 $\alpha$ . After localization, EPCs express MMP-9, which degrades connective tissue and allows EPCs to migrate into the injured/ischemic tissue. At the site of injury, EPCs exhibit a paracrine function by releasing multiple cytokines and growth factors, including VEGF, SDF-1 $\alpha$ , angiopoietin-1, EGF, IGF-1 and KGF (74, 75). These growth factors act on the surrounding cells, including keratinocytes, fibroblasts, macrophages and endothelial cells, to induce proliferation and migration within the injured tissue. Angiogenesis, the formation of new blood vessels, occurs via the migration and proliferation of both resident endothelial cells and the proliferation and differentiation of EPCs at the site of injury.

# VII. Endothelial Progenitor Cell Dysfunction in Diabetes

Vascular disease is a significant complication in diabetic patients (22, 31-35, 53, 65). EPCs have been shown to play a significant role in neo-vascularization. Therefore, several studies examined whether there is a link between the quality

functional activity and quantity of EPCs as these relate to vascular disease in diabetes. Schatteman et al. (91) performed hind limb ischemia in nude type 1 diabetic (T1D) mice and non-diabetic controls, and found that transplantation of normal EPCs into the ischemic limbs of diabetic mice improved re-vascularization. In contrast, transplantation of normal EPCs into normal mice did not improve re-vascularization. Early studies continued to provide more evidence that EPCs were dysfunctional in diabetes. Tepper et al. (95) used in vitro assays to study EPC functional activity in DM. These investigators found that EPCs isolated from type 2 diabetic (T2D) patients had a diminished ability to proliferate, adhere to connective tissue, and incorporate into tubes in the tube formation assay (an in vitro measurement of angiogenesis capacity) (95). Loomans et al. (87) found that a reduced number of EPCs could be isolated from T1D patients when compared to normal individuals, and that cells exhibited a decreased ability to form tubes on Matrigel, even when they were cultured in normal media. Such studies provide strong evidence that EPC dysfunction may contribute to vascular disease in diabetes mellitus.

Several studies confirmed that EPC dysfunction occurs in both T1DM and T2DM (71, 87, 91, 95, 99) and that the number of circulating EPCs is significantly decreased in both types of diabetes (87, 99). EPCs incubated in high glucose were found to have decreased cell proliferation, nitric oxide production, MMP-9 activity and migration (84). *In vivo* functions of EPCs derived from T1DM and T2DM, including mobilization, migration, adhesion, re-endothelialization and

neo-vascularization, are also impaired (71, 82, 95, 99). These studies have demonstrated that every known functional activity of EPCs is impaired in diabetes. Studies have recently emerged that begin to describe the putative mechanisms that may contribute to EPC dysfunction in DM. Current evidence suggests that diminished expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , VEGF and SDF-1 $\alpha$  in ischemic/injured diabetic tissue contributes to impaired mobilization of EPCs in DM (38, 77).

# **VIII. Mechanism of EPC Dysfunction in Diabetes**

## A. Impaired Adhesion

EPC adhesion at the site of injury is a necessary step in regeneration (74, 82). A study published by li et al., demonstrates that increased thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) expression of EPCs isolated from T2D mice impairs adhesion both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (82). In this study, normal EPCs transfected with a TSP-1 vector demonstrated elevated TSP-1 levels and diminished adhesion to vitronectin. In addition, both EPCs isolated from T2D mice and non-diabetic mice incubated in high glucose medium experienced elevated TSP-1 levels and impaired adhesion. This study showed that EPCs isolated from diabetic mice exhibit impaired adhesion and that impaired EPC adhesion contributes to impaired vascular regeneration (82).

# **B. Impaired Proliferation**

At the site of injury, an important step in EPC function is proliferation and differentiation. Two separate studies have demonstrated that p38 MAPK activation is higher in EPCs isolated from patients with DM (EPCs isolated from patients or mice with DM are henceforth referred to as diabetic EPCs or dEPCs) compared to normal EPCs (85, 92). In the study performed by Seeger et al., (90), SB2303580 was used to inhibit p38 MAPK in dEPCs. They found that inhibition of p38 MAPK increased the proliferation of EPCs and the number of cells with EPCs markers. The EPC population in which p38 MAPK was not inhibited exhibited decreased proliferation and increased monocyte markers instead. In a similar study by Kuki et al., EPCs were incubated in high glucose for 7 days, after which EPCs had increased p38 MAPK activity and consequently an increase in the number of cells that stained positive for  $\beta$ -galactosidase (a marker of cell senescence) and decreased proliferation (85). SB2303580 treatment increased proliferation and decreased senescence in EPCs incubated in high glucose. Upregulation of p53 has also been implicated in dEPC senescence (100). Hyperlipidemia is found in many patients with type 2 diabetes (83). In a study performed by Rosso and colleagues dEPCs were incubated in medium containing low-density lipid (LDL). They found that the expression level of p53 and the number of cells that stained positive for β-galactosidase increased, indicating the cells has undergone senescence. Silencing of endogenous p53 with siRNA down-regulated p53 and decreased the number of cells that stained positive with

 $\beta$ -galacotsidase. These studies demonstrate the decreased proliferation and increased senescence of dEPCs is affected by both p53 and p38 MAPK. In addition, these studies provide evidence that correcting one problem, such as inhibiting p38 without inhibiting p53, will only partially correct for dEPC dysfunction. Together, these studies suggest that independent pathways impair dEPC functional activity.

## C. EPCs and Oxidative Stress

A 2007 paper suggests that increased oxidative stress contributes to dEPC dysfunction (93). Multiple mechanisms contribute to increased oxidative stress in diabetes mellitus. Under hyperglycemic conditions, excessive glucose can generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) via autoxidation (101, 102). In addition, in hyperglycemia, the level of proteins that have undergone non-enzymatic glycosylation is increased (101, 102). During the process of non-enzymatic glycosylation of proteins, additional ROS are generated (101, 102). Hyperglycemia can also lead to an increase in glucose-6-phosphate, the first step in glycolysis, which increases the activity of the pentose phosphate pathway (101, 102). As part of the pentose phosphate pathway, NADP<sup>+</sup> is reduced to NAD(P)H and then NAD(P)H is recycled back to NADP<sup>+</sup> via the enzyme complex NAD(P)H-oxidase (101-103). In the process of NADPH oxidation, O<sub>2</sub> is converted to O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, a reactive oxygen species.

As hyperglycemia induced formation of intracellular O2<sup>-</sup> increases, molecular pathways important for normal EPC functional activity can become deleteriously affected. One such pathway includes the production of nitric oxide (NO). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) converts L-arginine to L-citrulline; in this reaction nitric oxide (NO) is formed. (6R)-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-L-biopterin (BH4) is a necessary cofactor for normal eNOS function. Several studies have demonstrated that  $O_2^-$  oxidizes and lowers intracellular BH4 levels (104, 105). When BH4 levels are insufficient, eNOS becomes "uncoupled", in this state, eNOS produces destructive the reactive oxygen species O<sub>2</sub> and peroxynitrite (ONOO-) instead of NO. NO, itself, is important for normal EPC functions, including, mobilization, migration, proliferation and angiogenesis. Two separate studies have found that the impaired production of NO in dEPCs contributes to dysfunction (76, 96). In these studies intracellular NO was increased in dEPCs with a NO donor, sodium nitroprusside (76) or with improvement in eNOS function by the addition of its cofactor, BH4, to cell media (96). In these studies it was found that increased levels of NO lead to improvement of dEPC functional activities, including, mobilization, migration, proliferation and angiogenesis.

Hyperglycemia can cause a substantial level of ROS to be generated in the mitochondria as well. Hyperglycemia causes increased levels of NADH and FADH<sub>2</sub>, therefore increasing the activity of mitochondrial complexes I and II and subsequently cytochrome Q activity (101, 102). As a result, an accumulation of electrons and increased activity of cytochrome Q generates excessive levels of

O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> (74, 97), which in turn causes oxidative damage to lipids, organelles, proteins and nucleic acids, diminishing cellular function. MnSOD removes superoxide radicals from the mitochondria. The importance of MnSOD expression for cellular function is exemplified by the fact that MnSOD knockout mice are neonatal lethal (106). Over-expression of MnSOD has been found to correct for hyperglycemia-induced oxidative stress in target cells subject to diabetic complications, including: glomerular mesangial cells, dorsal root ganglion, endothelial cells and skin (39, 101, 102). Consistent with this observation, a previous study from the laboratory of Alex F. Chen, found that skin isolated from T1D mice are deficient in MnSOD and that treating wounds of T1D mice with MnSOD gene therapy significantly improves the rate of wound healing (39).

Elevated oxidative stress has been found in EPCs isolated from T2D patients (71). This study demonstrated that one source of ROS in dEPCs was NAD(P)H oxidase. This enzyme was inhibited with siRNA to a subunit of NAD(P)H oxidase p47<sup>phox</sup>. After this inhibition, dEPCs demonstrated decreased oxidative stress and an improved ability to promote re-endothelialization of denuded carotid arteries in nude mice after dEPC transplant. This study provides evidence that oxidative stress in dEPCs reduces the in vivo regenerative capacity of these cells.

Resistance to oxidative stress is necessary for normal EPC functional activity. Two previous studies have demonstrated that the level of MnSOD expression is critical for normal EPC functional activity (107, 108). In the first study (107),

siRNA was used to decrease the expression of MnSOD in normal EPCs, and the cells were then cultured with an O<sub>2</sub> radical generator LY83583. When the investigators compared the untreated EPCs to EPCs treated with MnSOD-siRNA, they found increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the siRNA group. The EPCs treated with LY83583 and siRNA demonstrated impaired migration. In another study, EPCs were compared to mature endothelial cells (108). LY83583 was used to generate ROS. EPC exposed to elevated ROS continued to form tubes on Matrigel, whereas mature endothelial cells, which had lower levels of MnSOD, did not. Taken together, these studies indicate that MnSOD is a critical enzyme for normal EPC functional activity. Further evidence that resistance to oxidative stress is important for EPC functional activity was found in glutathione peroxidase type 1 (Gpx-1) knockout mice (54). Gpx-1 takes part in an intracellular reaction to eliminate hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>). Gpx-1 knockout mice have been shown to have increased ROS in EPCs, and a decrease in the level of circulating EPCs. EPCs isolated from Gpx-1 knockout mice also demonstrate impaired migration and diminished response to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). The most significant finding of this study was the impaired ability of EPCs to induce angiogenesis in vivo. Tolerance of EPCs to oxidative stress in a non-disease state is necessary for normal EPC functional activity. Therefore, impairment of MnSOD expression in EPCs under pathological conditions in which ROS are generated, such as DM, could be a contributing factor for EPC dysfunction.

## IX. Therapeutic use of Endothelial Progenitor Cells

Soon after the discovery of endothelial progenitor cells, investigators began to study the regenerative capacity of these cells. The majority of the research performed has been in the cardiovascular field to examine whether EPCs could be used to regenerate both the vasculature and the heart. Therapeutic cytokine induction to elevate the levels of circulating progenitor cells has been found insufficient for inducing complete revascularization (36). In contrast, several studies have demonstrated that injection of progenitor cells into a blood vessel of an ischemic area or directly into the injured tissue induced neo-vascularization, improved perfusion, and enhanced regeneration of the injured/ischemic tissue (109-111). Previous studies have found that EPCs interact with, and differentiate into cardiomyocytes. The exact mechanism of cardiac regeneration remains controversial. However, recently it has become clear that progenitor cell therapy of injured/ischemic myocardium decreases the infarct size and improves both cardiac perfusion and function (109-114). Although human trials with EPCs are currently underway, the efficacy of using EPCs isolated from patients with diseases that are known to deleteriously affect EPC functional activity has not yet been fully elucidated.

Patients with DM can develop significant vascular disease. One possible contribution to this vascular disease is the dysfunction found in the cells that repair the vasculature, i.e. EPCs. Recent studies have found that dEPCs

therapy is not as effective in inducing regeneration as normal EPCs therapy (72, 73, 112). For example, a 2008 study by Jiménez-Quevedo et al., demonstrated that treatment of diabetic patients with autologous progenitor/stem cells is not as effective in regenerating injured/ischemic tissue as is autologous progenitor/stem cell therapy of non-diabetic patients (112). A study published by Caballero et al., determined that "ischemic vascular damage can be repaired by healthy but not diabetic, endothelial progenitor cells" (73). The research finding that dEPCs were not effective in regeneration of injured tissue was also found by Award et al. (72). In these studies, the same number of normal EPCs or dEPCs was used therapeutically. Taken together, these studies demonstrate that non-diabetic EPCs are more effective in induction of regeneration of the injured tissue. Furthermore, the evidence provided in these studies suggests that reversal of dEPC dysfunction may be necessary for dEPC therapy to become clinically feasible.

Preclinical studies have started to emerge in which EPC therapy is explored as a treatment for impaired wound healing in DM (henceforth referred to as diabetic wound healing). In a study published by Sivan-Loukianova et al., normal EPCs were isolated from humans and then transplanted into the wounds of T1D nude (immunodeficient) mice (113). This study demonstrated that transplantation of normal EPCs could improve the rate of diabetic wound healing. However, from this study it was not clear if transplantation of EPCs would still be effective in a mouse with an intact immune system. In a similar study, normal

human EPCs were transplanted onto the wounds of T2D nude mice, Suh et al., found that transplanted human EPCs were incorporated into the vasculature and released VEGF and PDGF (114). In T2D mouse studies, it was found that transplantation of dEPCs is not as effective in inducing angiogenesis as transplantation of normal EPCs. However, in these studies, the rate of wound healing was not measured (113, 114). In comparing transplantation of different cell type, a study performed by Wu et al. found that transplanted normal bone-marrow derived progenitor cells were more effective at improving the rate of wound closure then transplanted normal mouse fibroblast (115). In addition to EPC transplantation, other researchers have examined the use of EPC chemoattractants such as, PDGF, SHH, and combined therapy with SDF-1 $\alpha$  and hyperbaric oxygenation to improve diabetic wound healing (27, 38, 71). The therapeutic use of these cytokines improved the rate of wound healing as well as angiogenesis (27, 38, 71). These studies demonstrate that increasing the number of EPCs at the site of wound healing with either transplantation or cytokine therapy ameliorates wound healing in diabetes. The optimal number of EPCs needed to induce wound repair has yet to be determined. In addition, a comprehensive study which compares the number and functional activity of EPCs transplanted in diabetic wound healing is lacking.

# X. Current Therapy Regarding Wound Healing in Diabetes Mellitus

A combination of medical and surgical therapy is used to improve wound

healing in patients with DM (22, 31-35). Diabetic wound infections are typically polymicrobial. Both gram positive and gram negative, as well as aerobic and anaerobic bacteria can be found in diabetic wounds. At the start of therapy, a culture is taken from the wound to determine the type of bacteria within the wound as well as the sensitivity of bacteria to antibiotics. Initially patients will be given a broad- spectrum antibiotic, which may be adjusted to a more specific antibiotic upon determination of antibiotic sensitivity of the bacteria. Surgically, the wound is treated with debridement to remove the callus that forms from keratinocyte hyperplasia and any infected tissue including bone. The key to successful debridement is removal of unperfused tissue. Wide debridement past the wound well into skin with an intact microvasculature is necessary for revascularization to take place. The wound is then kept clean, moist and bandaged with the patient keeping pressure on the wound. Intravenous or oral antibiotics may then be given for several weeks while the wound heals. Delayed wound closure may lead to further colonization of bacteria and worsening of the infection. As noted above, the key to wound healing is blood flow and angiogenesis. Clinically, perfusion of the wound and/or limb can be measured by several methods including dye studies via interventional radiology or Laser Doppler studies. Amputation becomes necessary when inadequate perfusion of the microvasculature and/or perfusion of the macrovasculature cannot be surgically corrected, as antibiotic therapy is ineffective without perfusion to the wound site. In addition, inadequate perfusion leads to tissue hypoxia and necrosis. In patients with impaired perfusion, development of a procedure in which the

microvasculature can be re-established in and around the wound would allow for effective antibiotic therapy and prevent tissue hypoxia, subsequent necrosis, and amputation.

# A. Adjunct Therapies for Diabetic Wound Healing

As described above, adjunctive therapy for foot ulcers in DM should be initiated if the wound has not achieved greater than or equal to 10% closure in 3 weeks or 50% closure within four weeks after the start of standard therapy (22, 116-118). There are several adjunct therapies available that have demonstrated clinical efficacy for improving the rate of wound healing in patients with DM. These include, Regranex (recombinant PDGF), negative pressure therapy, hyperbaric oxygen (HBO) and bioengineered skin (22, 117, 118). PDGF is the first and only cytokine to be approved by the Food and Drug Administration as a therapy to promote wound healing in patients with diabetes (22, 119-121). The application of PDGF to wounds improves migration of fibroblast and macrophages to the site of injury (120). These cells release growth factor and cytokines which promote wound healing (120).

HBO therapy involves placing the patient into a hyperbaric chamber in which the patient breathes 100% oxygen at 2.5 atmospheres. The mechanism by which HBO therapy promotes wound healing is not completely understood (120). However, previous studies have demonstrated that HBO therapy increased tissue oxygenation and the production of NO and VEGF (38, 120, 122). Although HBO therapy can be used to treat ischemic wounds, the wounds must be well perfused (119).

Negative pressure wound therapy, also known as vacuum assisted closure (VAC) uses a vacuum to induce negative pressure on the wound. VAC promotes wound healing through several possible mechanisms. First, VAC decreases edema at the site wound healing (119, 120). This is believed to improve oxygenation of the wound by decreasing the area of diffusion for oxygen from the vasculature to the site of injury (119, 120, 123, 124). Second, micromechanical force may promote cell proliferation at the wound site and bring the wound edges closer together (119, 120, 123, 124). Third, micromechanical force may upregulate the release of growth factors and chemotactic factors at the wound site, however, with this therapy the surrounding vasculature must be intact and the wound may not be ischemic or necrotic (119, 120).

Bioengineered skin can also be used to promote wound healing (120, 125). Bioengineered skin is derived from neonatal foreskin (120, 125). Once transplanted, it provides extracellular matrix molecules, such as collagen, laminin and fibronectin (120, 125). In addition, the graft supplies growth factors, such as, TGF- $\alpha$ , PDGF, TGF- $\beta$  and G-CSF. The combination of growth factors and extracellular matrix stimulates cell proliferation and angiogenesis within the

wound (120, 125).

All of the adjunct therapies described above improve wound healing and promote angiogenesis. PDGF and HBO therapy have both been shown to improve EPC migration to the site of wound healing (27, 38). The secretion of growth factors and cytokines found with the use of negative pressure therapy (119, 120, 123, 124) and bioengineered skin (120, 125), may promote EPC migration as well. Although the use of adjunct therapies may promote EPC migration to the site of injury and promote angiogenesis, none of these therapies have been shown to correct for diabetes-induced EPC dysfunction. In addition, despite the use of adjunct therapies to promote wound healing, as previously described, over 72,000 amputations occur each year from impaired diabetic wound healing in the United States alone (2, 3, 23).

# XI. Research Goals

Multiple factors are known to contribute to impaired wound healing in diabetes. These include, increased ROS, impaired cellular function and impaired perfusion. Angiogenesis is a critical step in wound healing and is impaired in diabetic wound healing. EPCs, the primary cells responsible for the induction of angiogenesis, are dysfunctional in DM. The focus of the present study is to determine a putative cause for EPCs dysfunction in diabetic wound healing.

The *central hypothesis* of the present study is, diminished antioxidant protection is a mechanism that contributes to EPC dysfunction in diabetic wound healing. In the present study, evidence is presented in the next four chapters that support the hypothesis that diminished expression of MnSOD in EPCs contributes to impaired EPC functional activity in diabetic wound healing.

The level of circulating EPCs, as well as that of ROS in EPCs, was explored in T2D mice. Blood mononuclear cells were isolated from both normal and diabetic mice. The level of EPCs was then determined by using flow cytometry using established assays. These studies provide physiological evidence that a key mechanism, namely EPC protection against ROS, is impaired in diabetes.

A putative cause of elevated ROS in EPCs isolated from T2D mice (db/db-EPCs) was also explored. The level of mRNA expression of catalase, CuZnSOD and MnSOD are explored in db/db-EPCs. Furthermore, the protein level of MnSOD in db/db-EPCs is explored as well. The results of these studies indicate that the expression level of MnSOD, a critical enzyme for EPC functional activity, is lower in EPCs isolated from T2D mice.

The question, "Does the diminished expression of MnSOD found in db/db-EPCs contribute to dysfunction?" was then asked. Gene therapy was used to increase the level of expression MnSOD in EPCs isolated from T2D mice. *In vitro* functional assays were then used to determine whether gain of function

occurred with increased MnSOD expression in db/db-EPCs. The results of these *in vitro* studies indicate that MnSOD deficiency impairs the ability of EPCs to induce angiogenesis.

Finally, EPC functional activity in wound healing is explored. Wound healing is a complex process that requires the interplay of many different cells types. The ability of EPCs to induce angiogenesis is impaired in diabetes. EPCs isolated from syngeneic mice were transplanted to wounds of T2D mice. Transplantation of both normal EPCs and db/db-EPCs was performed. In a separate group, gene therapy was used to increase MnSOD expression in db/db-EPCs prior to transplantation. Furthermore, it was determined whether increasing the number of EPCs transplanted would improve wound healing. Angiogenesis and wound healing were measured. The results of these in vivo studies indicated that increasing db/db-EPC MnSOD expression level improves the ability of these cells to induce angiogenesis and accelerates the rate of wound healing. The results also demonstrate that increasing the number of EPCs transplanted to the site of the wound from  $1 \times 10^6$  cells to  $2 \times 10^6$  cells further accelerates wound repair. These results suggest that both the number and the functional activity of transplanted EPCs work synergistically to induce regeneration.

Collectively, the results of the studies, referred to above, suggest that diminished MnSOD expression (antioxidant protection) is a mechanism that contributes to EPC dysfunction in diabetic wound healing. Furthermore, ROS is

elevated in circulating EPCs. Consistent with this finding, MnSOD expression is decreased in EPCs isolated from T2D mice. When MnSOD expression levels were increased in db/db-EPCs, gain of function was found both *in vitro*, with the improved functional activity of dEPCs to form tubes on Matrigel and accelerate wound repair *in vivo*. The novel findings described in the following chapters, could lead to autologous therapeutic use of EPCs derived from patients with diabetes to improve wound healing.

The most important results of my studies have been prepared as a manuscript, which was submitted to the Journal of Clinical Investigation. Chapters 2 through 5 contain data presented in that manuscript as well as additional data. This has allowed me to provide additional explanatory material.

# **CHAPTER 2**

# Determination of the circulating level and physiologic ROS of EPCs in type 2 diabetic

mice.

# Abstract

Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) are bone marrow derived cells that can be found in the circulation at low levels. In humans with DM, the circulating level and functional activity of EPCs are diminished. In the present study, T2D mice (db/db) were used to explore EPC dysfunction in DM. In T2DM hyperglycemia manifests in elevated systemic oxidative stress. Resistance to oxidative stress is important for normal EPC functional activity. In this chapter, the circulating level of EPCs in normal db/+ and T2D db/db was measured. In addition, the level of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in circulating EPCs was compared between normal and diabetic mice. The results summarized in this chapter demonstrate that, similar to humans with diabetes mellitus, db/db mice demonstrate a decreased level of circulating EPCs with an increase in the level of intracellular ROS.

# Background

EPCs, first described by Asahara et al. in 1997 (51), are a bone marrow-derived cell population that circulates and participates in both vasculogenesis and vascular homeostasis (36, 52, 74). Recent studies suggest that EPC dysfunction contributes to impaired endothelial regeneration, angiogenesis, and subsequent poor wound healing in diabetes (71, 73, 87, 99). Studies have demonstrated that the circulating number of EPCs is decreased in patients with diseases that affect the vasculature, such as cardiovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease, hypertension and diabetes mellitus (36, 79, 88). It is not clear whether a disease causes the decrease in EPCs or whether the decrease in circulating EPCs leads to a disease (57, 79, 88, 126). However, studies have demonstrated that the number of circulating EPCs correlates with the severity of vascular disease (57, 99, 126, 127). For example, after a myocardial infarction, patients with a lower number of circulating EPCs have been found to demonstrate poorer outcomes (126, 127). Similarly, Fadini et al. (99), showed that in patients with diabetes, there is a correlation between number of circulating EPCs and the severity of peripheral vascular disease.

EPC tolerance of oxidative stress has been shown to be important for normal EPC functional activity (107, 108). Several studies have demonstrated that ROS are elevated in tissue isolated from humans or animal models with DM. If the level of ROS is found to be elevated in EPCs isolated from diabetic mice, this could indicate that ROS tolerance/resistance has been deleteriously affected. In

the first part of the present study, the level of circulating EPCs and the level of ROS in EPCs was determined. Blood mononuclear cells were isolated from normal and T2D mice and were then stained with Sca-1/Flk-1 (56) to determine circulating the EPC level or with DHE/Flk-1 to determine the level of ROS.

To determine whether there is similarity between humans and the selected mouse model used in this study, the level of circulating EPCs was measured in T2D mice. In the present study, an established T2DM mouse model, db/db (19, 116, 128, 129), was used. In these mice, a defect of the leptin receptor (OB-Rb) found in the hypothalamus leads to hyperphagia, and subsequent obesity, hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, and insulin resistance (19, 128). Db/db mice demonstrate many of the same complications found in humans with T2DM, including hypertension, cardiac disease, renal disease, diabetic neuropathy, impaired angiogenesis and impaired wound healing (19, 71, 116, 129). These mice (db/db) have become an established model to investigate diabetes induced wound healing impairment (27, 71, 116, 129).

## **Methods**

Animal Model. All animal procedures were performed according to Michigan State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) guidelines. Mice used in this study were adult normal male db/+ (C57BLKS/J, Jackson Labs) and T2D db/db (BKS.Cg-m +/+  $Lepr^{db}$ /J, with a C57BLKS/J background, Jackson Labs) 10-14 weeks old (27, 71, 116, 129). The criteria used for inclusion were blood glucose <200 mg/dl (normal, db/+) and blood glucose >300 mg/dl (T2D, db/db).

**Isolation of mouse EPCs from blood.** EPCs were isolated from the bone marrow and blood in both normal db/+ and T2D db/db mice according to established methods with minor modifications (71, 82). Briefly, mice were anesthetized with gas anesthesia ( $O_2$  1L/min,  $N_2O$  0.4 L/min, Halothane 0.5-1L/min), their hair was clipped, and their skin was prepared with Betadine and allowed to dry. Mouse peripheral blood (0.5-1 mL) was collected from a cardiac puncture into a 1 mL syringe containing 100 µL of heparin (1,000 units/mL, Sigma). Mononuclear cells were isolated from blood using Histopaque 1083 (Sigma) density centrifugation gradient (800 g, 4°C) for 30 minutes. The mononuclear fraction was removed, centrifuged (400 g, 4°C), and red blood cells were lysed with ammonium chloride solution (Stemcell Technologies), washed 3 times (400 g, 4°C) in PBS with 1% albumin, and then used for testing in the various assays.

**Measurement of circulating EPCs**. Blood-derived mononuclear cells in 100 µL PBS with 1% albumin were placed in polypropylene tubes. Mouse mononuclear cells were then stained with Sca-1 (FITC) and Flk-1 (PE) (BD) for 1hr at 4°C, washed 3 times in PBS with 1% albumin, and fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde (56). Quantification of Sca-1/Flk-1 double-positive cells was performed with a BD Vantage Flow cytometer.

**Detection of Reactive Oxygen Species**. Dihydroethidium (DHE, Invitrogen) at a concentration of 5  $\mu$ mol/L in 100  $\mu$ L PBS was placed in polypropylene tubes containing blood-derived mononuclear cells. Cells were incubated at 37°C for 10 min in a dark, humidified chamber, and then washed 3 times in PBS. Cells were then stained with Flk-1 (BD) for 1 hr at 4°C and washed 3 times in PBS with 1% albumin and 2% paraformaldehyde. Quantification of Flk-1/DHE double-positive cells was performed using a BD Vantage Flow cytometer.

**Statistical Analyses.** Unpaired t-test was used to compare groups, a two-tailed value of P<0.05 was taken as evidence of a statistically significant finding. The above statistical analyses were carried out using GraphPad (Version 4.03).

### Results

Circulating levels of EPCs were significantly decreased with a concomitant increase of oxidative stress in T2D (db/db) mice. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated from both normal (db/+) and T2D (db/db) mice, and the circulating EPCs were identified by Sca-1/Flk-1 double-positive staining as previously described (56). The flow cytometric analysis (Figure 1A and 1B) revealed a decrease in circulating EPCs in T2D mice (db/+:  $3.61 \pm 0.40\%$  vs. db/db:  $1.45 \pm 0.50\%$ , P<0.05, n=4-5). In addition, the level of circulating EPCs with elevated oxidative stress was increased (db/+:  $2.08 \pm 0.36\%$  vs. db/db:  $5.04 \pm 1.14\%$ , P<0.05, n=5) in T2D mice, as measured by flow cytometry as Flk-1/dihydroethidium (DHE) double-positive cells compared to normal controls (Figure 2A and 2B). These data indicate that the level of circulating EPCs of T2D mice is decreased with a concomitant increase in their level of oxidative stress.

**Figure 1.** The circulating level of EPCs was significantly decreased in T2D (db/db) mice. A. Representative histograms of Sca-1/Flk-1 analysis for normal (db/+) and T2D (db/db) circulating EPCs. B. T2D mice (db/db) have lower levels of circulating Sca-1/Flk-1 positive cells compared normal db/+ mice (\*P<0.05, db/+ vs. db/db, n=4-5).

Figure 1.









**Figure 2. Type 2 diabetic mice demonstrate increased oxidative stress in circulating EPCs. A.** Representative histogram of Flk-1/DHE analysis for normal (db/+) and T2D (db/db) circulating EPCs. **B.** T2D mice have elevated levels of Flk-1/DHE positive cells (\*P<0.05, db/+ vs. db/db, n=5).

Figure 2.











## Discussion

The level of circulating EPCs is diminished in patients with vascular disease. In this study, the level of Sca-1/Flk-1 positive cells in peripheral blood was measured to determine the level of circulating EPCs in db/db mice. Consistent with previous human studies, the study described in this chapter found that db/db mice also posses a diminished level of circulating EPCs. Several studies have demonstrated that mobilization of EPCs from the bone marrow into the circulation in diabetes is significantly impaired (38, 71). However, the mechanism responsible for decreased circulating EPCs has yet to be elucidated. Importantly the decreased levels of circulating EPCs may contribute to vascular disease (99). This decrease in circulating EPCs may contribute to vascular dysfunction and impaired wound healing, in diabetes (38, 71).

Patients with diabetes and diabetic animal models have both demonstrated increased oxidative stress in mature endothelial cells of the vasculature (130). Such studies have found that increased oxidative stress impairs EPC functional activity (54, 93). In the present study, the level of oxidative stress was measured in EPCs isolated from normal and T2D mice. The results demonstrate that diabetic mouse EPCs have elevated levels of ROS compared to normal mice EPCs. Because these cells were isolated and tested for ROS directly, without cell culture, the results indicate that the physiologic level of ROS in EPCs isolated from diabetic animals is elevated. These data also indicate that the mechanistic basis leading to EPC tolerance of ROS may be impaired. In the next chapter,

anti-oxidant enzymes that eliminate ROS from cells are measured to determine whether decreased expression of one or more enzymes leads to increased ROS in db/db-EPCs.

# **CHAPTER 3**

# **MnSOD expression is diminished in EPCs**

isolated from type 2 diabetic mice.

# Abstract

Protection from ROS is important for normal EPC functional activity. Normal EPCs express intrinsically high levels of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), compared to mature endothelial cells, and are thus resistant to oxidative stress. In this chapter, the expression levels of antioxidant enzymes in normal and diabetic mice were measured. It was found that MnSOD expression in EPCs isolated from T2D mice (db/db) was significantly decreased compared to normal EPCs. Consistent with these findings, they exhibited a concomitant increase in oxidative stress.

# Background

MnSOD and CuZnSOD remove superoxide radicals that may cause cellular damage and subsequent dysfunction (130-132). MnSOD is predominantly found in the mitochondria, whereas, CuZnSOD is predominantly found in the cytoplasm (132). NADPH oxidase is a major source of cytoplasmic  $O_2^{-}$  which is eliminated by CuZnSOD (132, 133). In the mitochondria, the electron transport chain produces  $O_2^{-}$ , which is removed by MnSOD (134). Both MnSOD and CuZnSOD catalyze the dismutation of  $O_2^{-}$  to  $H_2O_2$ . Catalase subsequently catalyzes the conversion of  $H_2O_2$  to  $O_2$  (130-132).



The expression of MnSOD may be more critical for cellular function than is CuZnSOD. This is exemplified by the fact that MnSOD knockout mice are neonatal lethal, whereas CuZnSOD knockout mice survive into adulthood (135, 136). EPCs normally express intrinsically high levels of MnSOD that eliminate intracellular ROS, which allows EPCs to maintain their regenerative capacity in the unfavorable environment of injury/inflammation-induced oxidative stress (107, 108). Other studies have demonstrated the importance of increased expression of MnSOD in diabetic tissue. These studies have shown that induced overexpression of MnSOD corrects for hyperglycemia-induced oxidative stress in traget cells affected by diabetic complications, including glomerular mesangial cells, dorsal root ganglion, endothelial cells and skin (39, 101, 102). The data

summarized in chapter 2, show that circulating EPCs in diabetic mice demonstrate increased ROS, compared to normal EPCs. Similarly, Sorrentino et al., (93) found that ROS levels are elevated and impair functional activity of EPCs isolated from humans with T2DM. However, it remains to be seen whether EPCs isolated from diabetics express a diminished expression level of MnSOD, which contributes to dysfunction.

In the present study, bone marrow-derived EPCs were isolated from both diabetic and normal mice. The mRNA expression level of MnSOD, CuZnSOD and catalase were measured. Previous studies have demonstrated that ROS is elevated in both T1DM and T2DM (39, 101, 102), suggesting that hyperglycemia is cause of increased ROS. Therefore, ROS levels were measured in EPC after incubation in normal EGM-2 (100 mg/dL glucose) and high glucose EGM-2 (500 mg/dL glucose). MitoSOX was then used to measure mitochondrial ROS. Furthermore, MnSOD gene therapy was performed on EPCs to determine whether increasing MnSOD expression in hyperglycemic conditions would decrease the level of ROS in EPCs. As described in this chapter, it is also determined whether the expression level of anti-oxidant enzymes is affected in EPCs isolated from diabetic mice.
#### **Methods**

Animal Model. Described in Chapter 2.

Isolation of mouse EPCs bone marrow. EPCs were isolated from the bone marrow and blood from both normal db/+ and T2D db/db mice, according to established methods with minor modifications (71, 82). Briefly, mice were anesthetized with gas anesthesia (O2 1L/min, N2O 0.4 L/min, Halothane 0.5-1L/min), hair was clipped; skin was prepared with Betadine and allowed to dry. The femur and tibia were isolated and placed into endothelial growth media-2 (EGM-2 contains human epidermal growth factor (hEGF), hydrocortisone, Fetal Bovine Serum, VEGF, Long Recombinant Analog of Human Insulin-Like Growth Factor type 1 (R3-IGF-1), ascorbic acid and heparin, Cambrex) at 4°C. Bone marrow was flushed out of the tibiae and femurs with EGM-2, using a 25 gauge needle, and separated with vigorous pipetting and then centrifuged for 5 minutes (400 g, 4°C). RBCs were lysed with ammonium chloride solution (Stem Cell Technologies), and washed 3 times in EGM-2 (400 g, 4°C). The cells were plated in a vitronectin-coated (Sigma) six well plates at 8.5x10<sup>5</sup> cell/cm<sup>2</sup> in EGM-2 at 37°C, 5%  $CO_2$ ; and after four days in culture, non-adherent cells were removed. EGM-2 was changed daily. Assays were performed after day seven (on day 8, unless otherwise specified). Bone marrow-derived EPCs were characterized by endocytosis of acetylated low-density lipoprotein (Dil-acLDL) and isolectin binding (67, 82, 108). Cells were incubated for 4 hours with acLDL (Molecular Probes) at

a concentration of 10  $\mu$ g/mL. After washing twice with EGM-2, cells were incubated with 5  $\mu$ g/mL isolectin (Isolectin B<sub>4</sub>) (Sigma) for 1 hr, and then with Hoechst 33258 (Sigma) 5 $\mu$ M for 20 min. The cells were then washed with PBS, and examined using a fluorescence microscope (Nikon Eclipse TE2000-U).

**Real-time PCR for MnSOD, CuZnSOD and Catalase.** EPCs were lysed and RNA was isolated with TRIZOL (Invitrogen). For each sample, 2 µg of RNA (measured with a NanoDrop ND-100) was reverse transcribed, using SuperScript II RT, Oligo (dT) (Invitrogen), dNTP Mix (Promega) with a GeneAmp PCR System 9700 (PE Applied Biosystems). Real-time PCR was carried out, using SYBR Green PCR Master mix, on a 7500 Real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems). The primer sequences were: "MnSOD forward 5'-CACATTAACGCGCAGATCATG-3',

reverse 5'-CCAGAGCCTCGTGGTACTTCTC-3';

CuZnSOD forward 5'-ACCAGTGCAGGACCTCATTTTAA-3',

reverse 5'-TCTCCAACATGCCTCTCTTCATC-3';

Catalase forward 5'-ATGGCTTTTGACCCAAGCAA-3',

reverse 5'-CGGCCCTGAAGCTTTTTGT-3';

18S forward 5'-CGGGTCGGGAGTGGGT-3',

reverse 5'-GAAACGGCTACCACATCCAAG-3' " (71, 82, 137). Variation in mRNA levels were calculated using  $2^{-\Lambda CT}$  (71, 138).

Western blot for MnSOD. EPCs were lysed in Cell Lytic MT lysis buffer (Sigma) with Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Sigma), (100 µL Protease Inhibitor/10 mL lysis buffer). 50 µg of protein were separated on a 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel, electro-transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad) and incubated with a primary antibody against MnSOD (1:1,000 (mouse), BD Transduction Laboratories), loading control anti-Actin (1:10,000 (mouse), Santa Cruz Biotech). The secondary antibodies used were IR Dye 800 conjugated anti-mouse (1:4,000, Rockland). The blot was read with an Odyssey imager (Li-Cor) and molecular band intensity was determined using Odyssey 2.1 software (Li-Cor).

**Gene transfer of MnSOD or GFP into expanded EPCs**. *Ex vivo* gene transfer experiments were conducted with replication-incompetent adenoviral vectors, driven by a cytomegalovirus promoter (CMV) as described (39), with minor modifications. Briefly, adenoviral vectors were used to deliver MnSOD (Ad-MnSOD) or green fluorescent protein (GFP) marker gene (Ad-GFP) to the expanded EPCs in culture at a titer of 500 MOI for 24 hrs, and EPCs were used 72 hrs after the initial infection.

**Mitochondrial superoxide.** Mitochondrial superoxide anion was detected as previously described (139). After seven days of culturing bone marrow-derived EPCs in high glucose EGM-2 (glucose 500 mg/dl), on day 8, EPCs were incubated with MitoSOX 5  $\mu$ M (Invitrogen) for 20 min at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were collected by trypsinization, washed 3 times with 1% albumin HBSS (with

Ca/Mg), and their mean fluorescent intensity was measured by flow cytometry (BD LSRII).

For measurement of ROS after MnSOD gene therapy, bone marrow-derived EPCs were cultured in high glucose EGM-2 (glucose 500 mg/dl), on day 10 of culture, EPCs were then incubated with MitoSOX 5  $\mu$ M (Invitrogen) for 20 min at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were collected by trypsinization, washed 3 times with 1% albumin HBSS (with Ca/Mg), and examined using fluorescence microscopy (Nikon Eclipse TE2000-U).

#### Results

**Isolation and identification of bone marrow derived EPCs.** EPCs were isolated from mouse bone marrow as previously described (71). EPCs uptake of Dil-Ac-LDL and ability to bind isolectin was carried out as described in the methods section. The data in Figure 3 A-D demonstrate that the cells isolated from mouse bone marrow are endothelial progenitor cells. Bone marrow derived EPCs were used for all functional assays and transplant studies throughout the remainder of this study.





Scale=50µm

Figure 3. Qualitative analysis of bone marrow-derived cells demonstrating they have the characteristics of EPC isolation. A. Hoechst nuclear staining B. Isolectin-FITC C. Dil-Ac-LDL D. Merge of A, B and C (Scale = 50 μm).

**MnSOD expression was diminished in EPCs isolated from db/db mice**. To investigate the expression of antioxidant enzymes, bone marrow-derived EPCs were isolated (71), and mRNA expression of MnSOD, CuZnSOD, and catalase. was quantified by real-time PCR. No significant difference was found in the expression of CuZnSOD (db/+:  $1.20 \times 10^{-4} \pm 4.52 \times 10^{-5}$  vs. db/db:  $2.21 \times 10^{-4} \pm$ 1.28x10<sup>-4</sup>, P=N.S., n=5) or catalase (db/+: 6.00x10<sup>-6</sup> ±2.45x10<sup>-6</sup> vs. db/db:  $5.14 \times 10^{-6} \pm 2.19 \times 10^{-6}$ , P=N.S., n=5) between normal (db/+-EPCs) and dEPCs (db/db-EPCs) (Figure 4 A and B). However, MnSOD mRNA expression was significantly decreased in db/db-EPCs (db/+:  $3.89 \times 10^{-5} \pm 6.15 \times 10^{-6}$  vs. db/db:  $1.9 \times 10^{-5} \pm 3.36 \times 10^{-6}$ . P<0.05, n=4-5) (Figure 4C) accompanied by a significant reduction of MnSOD protein level (db/+:  $0.48 \pm 0.02$  vs. db/db:  $0.19 \pm 0.01$ . P<0.05, n=4, Figure 5). Normal EPCs possess a high intrinsic level of MnSOD, compared to mature endothelial cells, which is essential for normal function (107, 108). Therefore, these findings demonstrate that an essential antioxidant enzyme is deficient in EPCs isolated from diabetic mice.

Gene transfer of MnSOD and GFP into EPC with an adenoviral vector. Isolated db/db-EPCs were incubated with various amounts of an adenoviral vector containing green fluorescent protein (GFP) or MnSOD. Photos taken 48 and 72 hours after the initial infection demonstrated that 72 hours after infection at 500 MOI adenovirus GFP infection results in elevated expression levels of GFP (Figure 6A). This experiment was repeated with an adenoviral vector containing MnSOD Figure 6B. The results demonstrate 500 MOI is sufficient to induce elevated MnSOD gene expression in bone marrow derived EPCs 72 hours after infection.

### Figure 4. Expression of MnSOD mRNA is diminished in EPCs isolated from

**T2D mice. A.** Catalase (P=N.S., n=5) **B.** CuZnSOD (P=N.S.) and **C.** MnSOD, the data shows that only MnSOD RNA levels were diminished in T2D (db/db) EPCs compared to normal EPCs (\*P<0.05, db/+ vs. db/db, n=5).

Figure 4.





Figure 5. MnSOD protein level is diminished in EPCs isolated from T2D mice. A and B MnSOD expression was determined by Western blot, demonstrating diminished expression of MnSOD in db/db-EPCs (\*P<0.05, db/+ vs. db/db, n=4).



Figure 6 Adenoviral transduction of bone marrow derived EPCs. A To determine the optimal MOI, db/db-EPCs were incubated with Ad-GFP for 24 hrs, the media was then changed, and the cells were observed at 48 and 72 hrs for GFP expression. B Ad-MnSOD was incubated with EPCs for 24 hrs. Then the media was changed. A western blot was then performed 72 hours after the initial infection.

Hyperglycemia increases mitochondrial oxidative stress in EPCs. MnSOD is found predominantly in the mitochondria (130, 132, 134, 136, 140) and plays a key role in its redox balance. To determine if the diminished expression of MnSOD in EPCs renders them susceptible to mitochondrial oxidative stress, both db/+-EPCs and db/db-EPCs were exposed in vitro to normal and high glucose EGM-2 (HG-EGM-2). After seven days in culture (day 8), the level of mitochondrial ROS was determined by staining EPCs with MitoSOX followed by flow cytometry. This method specifically detects mitochondrial oxidative stress (139). After culture of EPCs in HG-EGM-2, db/+ (db/+-NG: 2874.0±47.0 vs. db/+-HG: 3890.8±164.8, P<0.01, n=5) demonstrated significantly elevated levels of mitochondrial ROS. Elevated levels of mitochondrial ROS were also found in T2D mice db/db-EPCs as well (db/db-NG: 3188.0±79.9 vs. db/db-HG: 4670.2±190.3, P<0.01, n=5). However, EPCs isolated from T2D mice (db/db-EPCs) possessed significantly higher levels of mitochondrial ROS compared to EPCs isolated from normal db/+ mice (db/+-HG: 3890.8±164.8 vs. db/db-HG: 4670.2±190.3 P<0.01, n=5) (Figure 7 A-B). These results suggest hyperalycemia contributes to mitochondrial ROS in db/db-EPCs. In addition these data suggest that the diminished level of MnSOD found in db/db-EPCs (Figure 4 and 5) may contribute to elevated ROS in db/db-EPC mitochondrial in hyperglycemic conditions. To determine if MnSOD gene therapy of EPCs was effective in lowering hyperglycemia-induced ROS, EPCs were incubated in HG-EGM-2 for 7 days then infected with Ad-MnSOD. Normal EPCs were continually incubated in HG-EGM-2. On day 10, the level of ROS was examined

using MitoSOX staining and microscopy. The results in Figure 8 demonstrate that MnSOD gene therapy of EPCs can lower hyperglycemia induced ROS formation in EPCs.

**Figure 7.** Hyperglycemia increases mitochondrial ROS levels in EPCs. A. Representative histogram of MitoSOX analysis (db/+-HG blue curve, db/db-HG red curve). EPCs were incubated in normal glucose EGM-2 (NG) or high glucose EGM-2 (HG). **B.** Incubation of normal (db/+) or in db/db-EPCs in HG increased mitochondrial ROS (\*P<0.01, NG-db/+ vs. HG-db/+, NG-db/db vs. HG-db/db, n=5). Mitochondrial ROS was further increased in db/db-EPCs incubated in HG-EGM-2, compared to normal db/+-EPCs (\*P<0.01, HG-db/+ vs. HG-db/+ vs. HG-db/+ vs. HG-db/h, n=5).



#### Figure 8.



Figure 8. MnSOD gene transfer decreased ROS levels in EPCs incubated in high glucose EGM-2. Normal EPC incubated in high glucose EGM-2 demonstrate increased levels of ROS. **A.** Negative control, EPCs incubated in HG-EGM-2 that were not stained with MitoSOX. **B.** Normal EPCs incubated in HG-EGM-2 for 10 days demonstrated elevated ROS compared to **C.** EPCs incubated in normal glucose EGM-2 for 10 days. **D.** EPCs incubated in HG-EGM-2 that underwent MnSOD gene therapy demonstrate decreased ROS compared to **E.** Ad-β-gal control or **B.** the HG control.

#### Discussion

Marginalized EPCs (not found in the circulation) reside in the bone marrow and spleen (54, 82). However, EPCs may also reside in other tissues, such as the vasculature (74). EPCs make up a very small population of the circulating mononuclear cells, (2-4%) as demonstrated in chapter 2. Previous studies that have performed EPC experimentation using mouse models acquired EPCs from several locations, including the bone marrow, spleen and blood (71-73, 82, 87, 99). In order to isolate a sufficient number of EPCs from mice for *in vivo* and *in* vitro assays, bone marrow was selected as the source of EPCs in this study. Bone marrow cells were plated at a high density, on a tissue culture plate coated with vitronectin (71-73, 82, 87, 99). After 4 days in culture in EGM-2, the non-adherent cells were removed and the adherent cells were allowed to proliferate (71-73, 82, 87, 99). EGM-2 contains several growth factors including, human epidermal growth factor (hEGF), hydrocortisone, Fetal Bovine Serum, VEGF, Long Recombinant Analog of Human Insulin-Like Growth Factor type 1 (R3-IGF-1), ascorbic acid and heparin, which have been demonstrated to support and promote EPC growth and proliferation (54, 64, 67, 68, 71, 108, 109, 141). In this study, bone marrow-derived EPCs were used in all experiments described in this chapter and all of the following chapters.

Real-time PCR was performed to measure mRNA expression level of CuZnSOD, MnSOD and Catalase. The results demonstrate that MnSOD mRNA was decreased in db/db-EPCs compared to normal EPCs. In addition, the

protein level of MnSOD was also decreased in EPCs isolated from T2D mice. Previous studies have shown that the level of MnSOD expression in EPCs is important for angiogenesis (107, 108). MnSOD is predominantly localized to the mitochondria (132). However, others have demonstrated that MnSOD can also be found in the cytoplasm (142, 143). In this, and in previous studies in which it was found that the level of MnSOD expression is important for normal EPC functional activity, the localization of MnSOD was not determined (107, 108). However, He et al., found that MnSOD expression is important for EPC mitochondria integrity (108). MnSOD removes superoxide radicals from the mitochondria. Hyperglycemia increases the level of ROS in diabetes through increased levels of NADH and FADH<sub>2</sub>, therefore increasing the activity of mitochondrial complexes I and II and consequently cytochrome Q activity (51, 101, 102, 144). As a result, an accumulation of electrons and increased activity of cytochrome Q generates excessive levels of O<sub>2</sub> (51, 101, 102, 144). In this study, MitoSox was used to measure mitochondrial ROS. The mechanism in which MitoSOX detects mitochondrial ROS is incompletely understood (139, 145). In MitoSox, hydroethidine is covalently linked to a triphenylphosphonium cation (145). This moiety will target the negatively charged mitochondrial membrane (145), and can be used to detect mitochondrial ROS (139, 141). The results in Figure 7 demonstrate that EPCs from T2D mice incubated in HG-EGM-2 express elevated mitochondrial ROS. In addition, MnSOD gene therapy decreased ROS levels of EPCs incubated in HG-EGM-2. Although no study has established whether or not the level of MnSOD expression found in EPCs directly affects the

mitochondria or cytoplasmic ROS, this evidence and other studies suggest that intrinsic level of MnSOD expression protects the mitochondria in EPCs. What is even more important, this study found that MnSOD, a critical enzyme for EPC functional activity, demonstrates decreased expression in EPCs isolated from diabetic mice. The next chapter describes determination of the role of decreased expression of MnSOD on db/db-EPCs functional activity will be determined.

Previous studies have found that MnSOD expression is important for the angiogenic function of EPCs (139, 141). Further study is needed to determine if the level of MnSOD found necessary for normal EPC functional activity affects cytoplasmic or mitochondrial ROS. This information would provide further mechanistic insight to how MnSOD relates to the angiogenic function of EPCs. In addition, the use of MnSOD gene therapy to decrease ROS level in EPCs incubated in HG-EGM-2 was only demonstrative (Figure 8). Further investigation needs to be performed on multiple samples to demonstrate reperducibility of the results (greater than n=1 for each group). In addition, osmotic controls should be used to confirm the ROS found in EPCs incubated in HG-EGM-2 is induced by hyperglycemia.

### **CHAPTER 4**

# **Diminished MnSOD expression contributes**

## to endothelial progenitor cell dysfunction in

type 2 diabetes.

#### Abstract

Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) induce angiogenesis at sites of injury, and are dysfunctional in diabetes. The mechanisms of EPC dysfunction in diabetes are not yet fully understood. Normal EPCs express intrinsically high levels of MnSOD compared to mature endothelial cells, and are thus resistant to oxidative stress. In the previous chapter it was found that EPCs isolated from T2D mice demonstrated decreased expression of MnSOD compared to normal mice. To determine whether diminished expression of MnSOD *in vitro* plays a role in dEPC dysfunction, dEPC functional activity was studied after *ex vivo* MnSOD gene therapy. The results demonstrate that dysfunction of diabetic EPCs was significantly improved upon *ex vivo* MnSOD gene therapy.

#### Background

EPC dysfunction occurs in both T1DM and T2DM (27, 36, 38, 71-73, 82, 84, In vitro studies of normal EPCs exposed to high glucose 87. 95. 99). demonstrate decreased cell proliferation and migration, nitric oxide (NO) production, and MMP-9 activity (84, 146). EPCs in vivo are impaired in T1DM migration, adhesion, re-endothelialization and T2DM. includina and neo-vascularization (38, 71, 82, 95, 116). In the studies described in Chapter 3, it was found that EPCs isolated from T2D mice demonstrated diminished expression of MnSOD compared to normal EPCs. In this section, in vitro functional assays are used to determine if the diminished expression of MnSOD found in db/db-EPCs plays a role in their dysfunction.

Since the discovery of EPCs *in vitro* assays have been developed which allow investigators to gain a better understanding of EPC functional activity. These assays measure: adhesion, migration and tube formation and allow investigators to compare normal EPCs to EPCs isolated from patients and/or animals models with a disease, such as diabetes or cardiovascular disease. The adhesion assay, is carried out by measuring the ability of EPCs in culture to rapidly adhere (within 2 hours to connective tissue surrogates such as vitronectin or fibronectin) (82). The non-adherent cells are removed and the adherent cells are counted. The migration assay is carried out by measuring the ability of EPCs in culture to move towered a chemokine such as VEGF, in a modified Bodyen Chamber (54). The tube formation assay is carried out by measuring the ability of EPCs in culture to move

from a network of tubes on growth factor-reduced Matrigel (54, 71, 108). Although the composition of Matrigel, an extract from the Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm sarcoma has not been well characterized (147), its use in studying angiogenesis is well established (54, 71, 108, 148). In the present chapter it is determined if diminished MnSOD expression in dEPCs, discussed in the previous chapter, plays a role dEPC dysfunction. Elucidation of mechanisms underlying EPC dysfunction in diabetes could lead to practical use of EPCs for autologous cell therapy of wound healing in such patients.

#### Methods

Animal Model. This model is described in described in Chapter 2. Isolation of bone marrow derived EPCs and gene transfer of MnSOD or GFP into expanded EPCs is described in Chapter 3.

In vitro adhesion assay. Ninety six well plates were coated with 2.5  $\mu$ g/ml of rat vitronectin (Sigma) for 2hrs at 37°C. Bone marrow-derived EPCs were plated on the coated plates at 1x10<sup>4</sup> cells/well, in triplicate. After 2hrs of incubation at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in EGM-2, non-adherent cells were removed by washing 3 times with PBS, cells were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde and stained with Hoechest (Sigma). Five random fields were counted in each well at 200x (82).

In vitro network formation assay. Twenty four-well plates were coated with growth factor-reduced Matrigel (250  $\mu$ L, Becton Dickinson). Bone marrow-derived EPCs (7.5 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/well) were plated in 500  $\mu$ L of EGM-2 medium and incubated at 37°C 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24 hrs. Tube formation was counted in 15 random fields at 100x with a Nikon Eclipse TE2000-U microscope (108).

EPC migration assay. A 24 well 6µm Transwell was used to determine the ability of EPCs to migrate (54). VEGF (100 ng/ml) (BD) in EBM-2 medium supplemented with 20% FCS placed in the lower chamber. After 5 days of

culture,  $5.0 \times 10^4$  EPCs were suspended in EBM-2 medium supplemented with 20%FCS and placed in the upper chamber. After 24 hours of incubation at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. EPCs that had migrated into the lower chamber were counted (54).

#### Results

Ex vivo MnSOD gene therapy dose not rescue the db/db-EPC adhesion function. In the process of repairing injured tissue, circulating EPCs adhere to connective tissue at the site of injury. EPCs isolated from db/db mice have previously been found to have a diminished ability to adhere to vitronectin (82). MnSOD gene therapy was performed on db/db-EPCs to determine if EPC adhesion could be improved with MnSOD gene therapy. The results in Figure 9 demonstrate that the adhesion of db/db-EPCs to vitronectin was significantly lower than normal EPCs (db/+:78.3±1.6 vs. db/db: 50.3±3.2, n=5, P<0.05, Figure 9). The adhesion of db/db-EPCs to vitronectin, which underwent MnSOD gene therapy, was significantly lower than normal EPCs (db/+:78.3±1.6 vs. db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs: 52.4±3.3, n=5, P<0.05, Figure 9) and equivalent to db/db-EPCs (P=N.S., Figure 9). Thus MnSOD gene therapy does not improve the adhesion function of db/db-EPCs.

**Ex vivo MnSOD gene therapy rescued db/db-EPC angiogenic function.** *In vitro* angiogenic capacity of EPCs was examined by their network formation on Matrigel (108). Bone marrow-derived EPCs were plated on Matrigel for 24hrs

and the number of networks formed was quantified. EPCs isolated from T2D mice formed significantly fewer networks than EPCs isolated from normal mice  $(db/+: 37.3\pm2.7 \text{ vs. } db/db: 12.4\pm1.1, P<0.05, n=5$  Figure 10 A and B). Adenoviral vectors were used for gene transfer of MnSOD (Ad-MnSOD) or green fluorescent protein (Ad-GFP) to db/db-EPCs *ex vivo*. Ad-MnSOD gene therapy significantly improved the ability of db/db-EPCs to form networks on Matrigel compared to unmodified db/db-EPCs or the db/db-AdGFP-EPC controls (db/db-MnSOD: 23.3\pm0.7 vs. db/db: 12.4±1.1 or db/db-GFP: 15.1±0.4, P<0.05, n=5, Figure 10 B-E). These *in vitro* data correlate with the decreased level of MnSOD found in db/db-EPCs to induce angiogenesis.

**Migration of db/db-EPCs is impaired.** The circulating number and functional activity of EPCs in diabetes has been found to be diminished (71). EPCs isolated from T2D mice demonstrated a diminished migration in response to VEGF ((db/+:21.3 $\pm$ 1.1 vs. db/db:5.6167 $\pm$ 1.1, P<0.05, n=5, Figure 11, (The data for MnSOD gene transfer to db/db-EPCs are not shown because of technical difficulty with the migration assay)). Migration of EPCs from the bone marrow into the circulation, then to the site of injury, is one of the functional impairments of dEPCs (38, 73). The inability of dEPCs to migrate from the bone marrow to the site of wound healing could contribute to the decreased level of angiogenesis and poor wound healing.

Figure 9.



Figure 9. EPCs isolated from type 2 diabetic mice demonstrated impaired adhesion. EPCs adhesion to vitornectin after 2hrs of incubation was found to be impaired for db/db-EPCs. MnSOD gene therapy of db/db-EPCs did not ameliorate impaired adhesion (\*P<0.05, control vs. all other groups, n=5).

**Figure 10. MnSOD gene therapy improves the functional activity of EPCs isolated from T2D mice**. Representative photographs of network formation on Mastrigel for A. (db/+) normal EPCs, B. T2D (db/db-EPCs), C. T2D db/db-EPCs with MnSOD gene therapy, D. T2D db/db-EPCs transfected with the GFP marker gene. Representative photographs of B-D were of EPCs isolated from the same db/db mouse. E. MnSOD gene therapy, but not the GFP control, improved the ability of db/db-EPCs to form networks on Matrigel (\*P<0.05, db/+-EPC vs. all other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db or db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MnSOD vs. db/db-MNSOD vs. db/db-MNSOD vs. db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#**P<0.05 db/db-MNSOD vs. db/db-MNSOD vs. db/db-MNSOD vs. db/db-GFP, n=5, Scale = 650 other groups, **#** 

#### Figure 10.



Figure 11.





#### Discussion

The assays described in this chapter examined EPC functional activity *in vitro*, including adhesion, tube formation, and migration. Adhesion is an important function of EPCs (74, 82). In order for EPCs to induce angiogenesis EPCs they must first adhere to the site of injury (74, 82). The results of the adhesion assay demonstrated that the function of adhesion of db/db-EPCs is impaired. However, db/db-EPCs did not completely lose the ability to adhere to connective tissue. Gene therapy of db/db-EPCs was performed to determine if increasing the expression of MnSOD in db/db-EPCs (as demonstrated in chapter 3) would improve db/db-EPC adhesion. The outcome of this assay was that that MnSOD gene therapy did not improve db/db-EPC adhesion. This result suggests that the diminished level of MnSOD expression in db/db-EPCs does not contribute to impaired adhesion of db/db-EPCs.

Several recent studies have demonstrated the impaired ability of dEPCs to induce angiogenesis (27, 36, 71, 93). One *in vitro* measure of angiogenesis is the ability of EPCs to form networks on Matrigel (54, 71, 108). In this study, the ability of MnSOD gene therapy to improve network formation of db/db-EPCs was determined. The results show that db/db-EPCs, which underwent MnSOD gene therapy, demonstrate a gain of function with improved network formation on Matrigel, whereas the GFP control group did not. The results of this functional assay suggest that MnSOD plays a key role in tube formation and therefore angiogenesis. Importantly, this novel finding demonstrates that MnSOD deficiency contributes to the pathophysiology of EPCs in T2DM.

Other molecular mechanisms that have been found to contribute to EPC dysfunction in diabetes include elevated TSP-1 expression (82), impaired NO production (76), activation of the Akt/p53/p21 signaling pathway (100), and activation of p38 (85, 92), in addition to increased oxidative stress (93). A novel finding in this study is that, despite these other findings, restoration of dEPC angiogenic function with MnSOD gene therapy is a feasible approach to partially compensate for EPC dysfunction.

Migration of db/db-EPCs was also found to be impaired. Migration is an important step in mobilization of EPCs from the bone marrow (38). In addition, migration from the vasculature to the site of injury is required for EPCs to integrate into a wound site (38, 74). Transplantation of EPCs directly to the site of injury may compensate for both the decreased number of circulating db/db-EPCs and impaired migration. In the next chapter, transplantation of normal EPCs or db/db-EPC is explored as a potential therapy for diabetic wound healing.

### **CHAPTER 5**

## Partial Restoration of endothelial

progenitor cell function with manganese

### superoxide dismutase gene transfer in type 2

La anti-

diabetic wound healing

#### Abstract

Impaired wound healing in patients with DM is a significant clinical problem that Inadequate angiogenesis is a key factor that can result in amputation. contributes to poor diabetic wound healing. EPCs induce angiogenesis at the site of wound healing and are dysfunctional in diabetes. In the previous chapters, EPCs isolated from diabetic mice have been found to have diminished MnSOD expression compared to EPCs isolated from normal mice. Dysfunction of diabetic EPCs was significantly improved upon ex vivo MnSOD gene therapy in vitro. In the present study, the therapeutic effect of EPCs on diabetic wound healing was assessed by transplanting normal and diabetic EPCs to full thickness excisional wounds of T2D mice. Normal EPCs were significantly more effective at rescuing impaired wound healing then diabetic EPCs. Transplantation of diabetic EPCs transduced with MnSOD ex vivo resulted in significantly enhanced in vivo angiogenesis and accelerated wound healing rate. In addition, doubling the number of diabetic EPCs transplanted further accelerated the rate of wound healing, however, not to the extent achieved by normal EPCs. The present study demonstrates that ex vivo MnSOD gene therapy improves the diabetic EPC angiogenic function and the rate of diabetic wound healing after transplantation.

#### Background

Despite advances in wound care, refractory wound healing in patients with DM results in over 72,000 amputations each year in the US alone (22). Vascular complications in patients with DM, such as impaired angiogenesis, contribute to poor blood flow at the site of wound repair, resulting in defective endogenous inflammatory and regenerative responses (22, 34, 120). Wound healing is a complex process that involves the interplay of many different cell types including platelets, neutrophils, macrophages, lymphocytes, fibroblasts, keratinocytes and EPCs (23, 36). EPCs, first described by Asahara et al. in 1997 (35), are a bone marrow–derived cell population that circulate and participate in both vasculogenesis and vascular homeostasis (27, 36, 52, 74). Recent studies suggest that EPC dysfunction in diabetes contributes to impaired angiogenesis and subsequently; poor wound healing (38, 71, 72, 87, 99).

Progenitor cell therapy for ischemic/injured tissue is currently being studied in several clinical trials (110, 112, 149, 150). However, autologous progenitor/stem cell therapy of patients with diabetes is not as effective in regenerating injured/ischemic tissue as autologous progenitor/stem cell therapy of non-diabetic patients (112). Several basic unanswered questions regarding the use of diabetic progenitor cell therapy still remain. In this study, we attempt to provide mechanistic insights to answer some important questions as follows. When EPCs are transplanted for therapy, is there a significant difference in the regenerative capacity between normal EPCs and those EPCs isolated from T2D
mice? Is efficacious reversal of dEPC dysfunction feasible in developing cell therapy for wound healing? Would increasing the number of transplanted dEPCs compensate for their dysfunction? Determining whether the functional activity and number of transplanted cells influences the regenerative capacity of EPCs is an important step in developing clinically effective cell therapy for refractory diabetic wounds.

In the previous chapters EPCs were isolated from T2D (db/db) mice and their functional activity was studied *in vitro*. In the studies described in Chapter 4 it was found that MnSOD gene therapy improved tube formation in EPCs isolated from diabetic mice. This indicates that diminished MnSOD expression plays a role in the angiogenic dysfunction of db/db-EPCs and that MnSOD gene therapy of these cells is a putative therapy to improve functional activity. In this part of the study, db/db-EPCs are transplanted onto the wounds of T2D mice, with and without MnSOD gene transfer. The rates of wound closure were then measured. The primary role of EPCs is to induce angiogenesis (26, 54, 59, 67, 71, 74). In addition to determining the rate of wound closure, angiogenesis is measured on days 3, 6 and 16.

In the present chapter, the hypothesis that diminished MnSOD expression contributes to EPC dysfunction in diabetic wound healing was explored. These data suggest that db/db-EPCs ex vivo gene therapy with MnSOD prior to transplantation improve db/db-EPC functional activity *in vivo*. In addition,

evidence is provided that both the number and the functional activity of transplanted EPCs play significant roles in rescuing their regenerative capacity during wound healing and are important considerations for developing novel clinical EPC therapy strategies. Current evidence suggests that patients with diabetes may not be able to benefit from emerging therapy to improve vascular repair (72, 73, 82, 84, 87, 99, 112). In this study, evidence is provided that partial restoration of EPC functional activity prior to transplantation may allow for therapeutic EPC use in patients with diabetes.

### Methods

Animal Model. Described in Chapter 2.

Isolation of bone marrow derived EPCs and described gene transfer of MnSOD or GFP into expanded EPCs. Described in Chapter in Chapter 3.

**Punch biopsy wound model.** A full-thickness excisional wound model was performed as previously described (39, 129). Briefly, mice were anesthetized with gas anesthesia ( $O_2$  0.6 L/min,  $N_2O$  0.4 L/min, Halothane 0.5-1L/min), the dorsum was clipped and depilatory cream (Nair) was used to remove hair. The skin was prepared with Betadine and let dry. A full-thickness 6 mm skin punch biopsies (Acuderm) was created for each mouse. Wounds were dressed and changed every other day with a transparent oxygen permeable wound dressing (Bioclusive, Johnson & Johnson). Wound closure rates were measured by tracing the wound area every other day onto an acetate paper. The tracings were digitized, and the areas were calculated with the use of a computerized algorithm and converted to percent wound closure (Sigma Scan Pro 5; Jandel Scientific).

**EPC therapy for diabetic wounds**. For EPC therapy of wounds, bone marrow-derived EPCs from normal mice and MnSOD-transduced EPCs from db/+ or db/db mice were trypsinized after seven days in culture (day 8) and re-suspended in 25  $\mu$ L of PBS.  $1 \times 10^{6}$  cells or  $2 \times 10^{6}$  cells were injected onto and under the wound beds and approximately 0.5 cm past the wound edge. A

Bioclusive dressing was placed over the wound and mice remained under anesthesia for 15 min. Control mice were treated with PBS in the same fashion (39). Wound closure rates were compared between control and treatment groups, as described previously (39).

Wound Angiogenesis. Wounds were recovered from mice on days 3, 6 and 16, and capillary density in the healing wounds was quantified by histological analysis as previously described (27, 54). Briefly, wound samples were fixed with zinc chloride fixative (BD) for 24 hrs and embedded in paraffin and sectioned at 4-um interval. Slides were deparaffinized, hydrated, and placed in Tris Buffered Saline pH 7.5 for 5 min for pH adjustment. Endogenous peroxidase was blocked utilizing a 3% hydrogen peroxide/methanol bath for 20 mins followed by distilled Slides were blocked with normal rabbit serum (Vector Labs -H<sub>2</sub>O rinses. Burlingame, CA) for 30 min, incubated for 60 mins at room temperature with rat anti-mouse CD31 0.31 µg/mL (BD Bioscience), and the biotinylated rabbit anti-rat IgG H+L (Mouse Absorbed, Vector) 5 µg/mL for 30 minutes. Next the slides were incubated with Vectastain Elite ABC Reagent (Vector) for 30 minutes and Nova Red (Vector) for 15 minutes. Slides were counter stained with Gill (Lerner) 2 Hematoxylin (VWR Scientific) for 10 seconds, differentiated in 1% aqueous glacial acetic acid (removal of excess hemotoxylin), and rinsed in running tap water. Ten random microscopic fields (200x) were counted to determine the number of capillaries per wound (54). Pictures were taken on a Nikon Eclipse TE2000-U microscope using Metamorph software.

EPC Integration. Normal db/+ EPCs were isolated as described above and cultured in EGM-2. BrdU staining was performed on EPCs (121, 151, 152). Beginning on day 5, in culture, EPCs were labeled with 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine and 5-fluro-2'deoxyuridine (BrdU labeling reagent, Invitrogen). BrdU labeling reagent was diluted 1:100 in EGM-2, filtered through a 0.2 µm filter, and warmed to 37°C. 1 mL of BrdU/EGM-2 was added to cells in a 6-well plate, media was changed daily with BrdU/EGM-2 until day 7. On day 7, the wells were washed 3x with PBS followed by trypsinization to re-suspend the cells. The cells were then washed 3x via centrifugation EGM-2 (400g, 4°C). 2x10<sup>6</sup> EPCs were then transplanted to a T2D mouse wound (6 mm punch biopsy) as described above. On day 6 of wound healing, the mouse was euthanized; the wound and surrounding skin were recovered and fixed in 10% formalin for 24 hrs. The skin was then stained with an anti-BrdU (0.63 µg/mL, BD) antibody, with R.T.U. Elite Avidin Peroxidase Complex (Vector), and Nova Red staining. Pictures were taken on a Nikon Eclipse TE2000-U microscope using Metamorph software.

**Statistical Analyses.** For data comparing multiple groups, Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was used, followed by a post hoc pair-wise comparisons using Tukey's procedure to control for type I error (153). Statistical analysis for the rate of wound healing between groups was performed via SAS (Version 9.1) mixed procedure, followed with Tukey's correction (154-156). In all the tests, a two-tailed value of P<0.05 was taken as evidence of a statistically significant

finding. The above statistical analyses were carried out using Statistical Analysis System package and GraphPad (Version 4.03).

#### Results

EPC cell therapy improved wound healing in T2D mice. Mobilization of EPCs from the bone marrow to the site of injury is impaired in diabetes (38). Transplantation of EPCs to the site of injury could increase their number at the site of injury, and may thus be used as a therapeutic strategy to compensate for both the decreased EPC number and impaired mobilization in diabetes. The wound healing baseline for both normal and T2D mice was compared first. Each mouse underwent a single dorsal caudal 6 mm punch biopsy (day 0) as an established full-thickness excisional wound model, and the rate of wound closure was then measured every other day until day 16. The rate of wound closure in diabetic mice was markedly delayed compared to normal mice (P<0.0001, n=10, To determine the functional effect of cell therapy, bone Figure12A). marrow-derived EPCs were transplanted directly onto the wounds of diabetic mice after 7 days of culture in EGM-2. Immediately following 6 mm punch biopsies, mice underwent transplantation of either 1x10<sup>6</sup> normal (db/+-EPCs) or 1x10<sup>6</sup> diabetic (db/db-EPCs). The overall wound healing rate was significantly improved in diabetic mice that received transplantation of either db+-EPC or db/db-EPCs. However, the rate of wound healing was significantly faster in diabetic mice that received db/+-EPCs as compared to those that received the db/db-EPCs (P<0.0001, n=10, Figure 12A). Diabetic mice transplanted with db+-EPCs demonstrated improved wound healing over untreated diabetic mice starting on day 4 (P<0.05, n=10), whereas diabetic mice that received db/db-EPC transplantation did not show a significant improvement until day 10 over untreated

diabetic mice (P<0.05, n=10). Thus, transplantation of db/db-EPCs was not as effective in improving wound closure as transplantation of normal EPCs.

MnSOD gene therapy of db/db-EPCs rescued in vivo functional activity when transplanted onto diabetic wounds. To determine the functional effect of MnSOD gene therapy of dEPCs on wound healing, ex vivo infection of the MnSOD gene into db/db-EPCs (db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs) was performed prior to their in vivo transplantation. Diabetic mice receiving db/db-AdMnSOD-EPC therapy demonstrated significantly improved wound healing starting on day 6 (P<0.05, n=10, Figure 13). In contrast, diabetic mice receiving  $1 \times 10^6$ db/db-EPCs per wound with Ad-GFP gene transfer (db/db-AdGFP-EPC) did show improvement in the rate of wound healing until day 10 (P<0.05, n=10), an effect that was consistent with db/db-EPCs controls (Figure 12A and 15). The overall rate of wound healing was significantly accelerated in diabetic mice that received the db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs as compared to those that received the control db/db-AdGFP-EPCs (P<0.007, n=10, Figure 13A). Thus, *ex vivo* MnSOD gene therapy of db/db-EPCs partially restored their functional activity in diabetic wound healing, whereas db/db-EPCs controls transfected with GFP did not demonstrate improved functional activity in vivo.

**Increasing the number of db/db-EPCs transfected with MnSOD further accelerated the rate of diabetic wound healing.** To study the possible synergistic effect of the EPC number and functional activity on diabetic wound

healing, the number of EPCs transplanted was doubled (i.e. db/db-AdGFP-EPCs or db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs) from 1x10<sup>6</sup> to 2x10<sup>6</sup> EPCs/6mm punch wound. First, transplantation of 2x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdGFP-EPCs significantly accelerated the rate of wound healing compared to 1x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdGFP-EPCs (P<0.001, n=10) or 1x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-EPCs (P<0.001, n=10), compare Figures 12A, 13A and 14A. Second, transplantation of 1x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs was equivalent to transplantation of 2x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdGFP-EPCs for improving the rate of diabetic wound healing (P=0.46, n=10, compare Figures 13A and 14A. Third, transplantation of 2x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs further accelerated the rate of wound healing of diabetic mice compared to 2x10<sup>6</sup> control db/db-AdGFP-EPC (P<0.05, n=10, Figure 14). In addition, the results demonstrate that transplantation of two million db/db-EPC-AdMnSOD significantly improved the rate of diabetic wound healing compared to transplantation of 1x10<sup>6</sup>: db/db-EPC-AdMnSOD (P<0.001, n=10). db/db-EPC-AdGFP (P<0.001, n=10), db/db-EPC (P<0.001, n=10) with no EPC-gene therapy and the db/db control mice (P<0.001, n=10) with no EPC Most importantly, transplantation of 2x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs therapy. caused complete recovery of diabetic wound healing equivalent to the same rate as normal mice (P=0.99, n=10, Figure 14). No difference was found in the rate of wound healing between transplantation of 2x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-MnSOD-EPCs, 1x10<sup>6</sup> normal db/+-EPCs (P=0.37, n=10) or normal db/+ mice (P=0.99, n=10) Figure 15. These data indicate that both the functional activity and number of EPCs at the site of injury each play a significant role in wound healing.

**Figures 12-15.** After a 6 mm punch biopsy was made, the area of each wound was traced onto an acetate paper and measured every other day until day 16. Control groups: normal mice wound healing db/+ ( $\bullet$ ) and T2D wound healing db/db ( $\blacktriangle$ ), are taken as baseline wound healing and are the same for **Figures 12**, **13** and **14**. The experimental groups are separated for clarity (n=10 for all groups). **Figure 15** shows all of the groups in one plot. Representative photographs of wound healing quality are shown below each wound healing plot (no scale present) as **Figures 12B**, **13B** and **14B**. All groups in **Figures 12**, **13** and **14** demonstrated an improved rate of wound healing over untreated db/db mice alone (P<0.001, db/db vs. all other groups, n=10).

Figure 12. EPC cell therapy of diabetic wounds improves the rate of wound healing in T2D mice. A. Normal mice (db/+) and T2D mice transplanted (TXD) with  $1\times10^{6}$  db/+-EPCs ( $\blacksquare$ ) improved the rate of wound healing faster than T2D mice TXD with  $1\times10^{6}$  db/db-EPCs ( $\blacklozenge$ ) (\*P<0.001, db/+ vs. db/db TXD  $1\times10^{6}$  db/db-EPCs, n=10). (\*P<0.001, db/db TXD with  $1\times10^{6}$  db/+-EPCs vs. db/db TXD  $1\times10^{6}$  db/db-EPCs, n=10). Normal db/+ mice and T2D mice TXD with  $1\times10^{6}$  db/+-EPCs healed at equivalent rates (\*P=0.185 db/+ vs. db/db TXD with  $1\times10^{6}$  db/+-EPCs, n=10). B. Representative photographs of healing wounds.



Figure 13. MnSOD gene therapy of db/db-EPCs prior to transplantation improved that ability of db/db-EPC to induce wound healing. A. MnSOD gene therapy of  $1 \times 10^6$  db/db-EPCs (db/db-AdMnSOD-EPC (=)) improved db/db-EPCs ability to enhance wound closure vs. transplantation of  $1 \times 10^6$  control green fluorescent protein db/db-EPCs (db/db-AdGFP-EPCs ( $\blacklozenge$ )) ( $^{\Phi}$ P<0.01, db/db TXD with  $1 \times 10^6$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPC vs. db/db TXD with  $1 \times 10^6$  db/db-AdGFP-EPCs n=10). **B.** Representative photographs of healing wounds.



Figure 14. The number and functional activity of EPC work synergistically to improve wound healing. A. Transplantation of  $2x10^6$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs (**•**) improved the rate of wound healing vs.  $2x10^6$  db/db-AdGFP-EPCs (•) (<sup>A</sup>P<0.05, db/db TXD with  $2x10^6$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs vs. db/db TXD with  $2x10^6$  db/db-AdGFP-EPCs n=10). No difference was found between the rate of wound healing of  $2x10^6$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs vs.  $1x10^6$  db/+-EPCs (**\***P=0.3, db/db TXD with  $2x10^6$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs vs.  $1x10^6$  db/+-EPCs (**\***P=0.3, db/db TXD with  $2x10^6$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs vs. db/db TXD with  $1x10^6$ db/+-EPCs n=10) or db/+ mice vs.  $2x10^6$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs (**\***P=0.9, db/+ mice vs. db/db TXD with  $2x10^6$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs n=10). **B.** Representative photographs of healing wounds.







Figure 15. All wound healing groups. Transplantation of  $2x10^6$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs improved the rate of wound in db/db mice vs. other cell therapy groups (<sup>A</sup>P<0.05, db/db TXD with  $2x10^6$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs vs. db/db TXD  $1x10^6$  db/db-EPCs, or  $1x10^6$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPC, or  $1x10^6$  db/db-AdGFP-EPCs, n=10).

EPC therapy resulted in improved in vivo angiogenesis in diabetic wound healing. Wounds and surrounding skin were recovered and stained for CD31 as a marker of in vivo angiogenesis (i.e. capillary formation), on days 3, 6 and 16 of wound healing as described (27). On day 3 of wound healing, capillary formation was significantly greater in normal mice compared to all other groups (P<0.05. n=4-5. Figure 16A). On day 6, normal mice continued to have significantly more capillary formation compared to diabetic mice as well as diabetic mice with db/db-EPC therapy or db/db-AdGFP-EPC (P<0.05, n=4-5, Figure 16B). Diabetic mice treated with either 1x10<sup>6</sup> normal EPC, 1x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs, 2x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs or 2x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdGFP-EPCs showed significantly more capillary formation compared to control diabetic mice on day 6 (P<0.05, n=5, Figure 16B). On day 16, diabetic mice continued to show significantly less capillary formation compared to all other groups (P<0.05, n=5, Figure 16S). Correspondingly, groups with accelerated wound healing over control diabetic mice showed significantly more capillary formation on day 6 (Figure 16B and 16C-R). Furthermore, either MnSOD-transfected db/db-EPCs or doubling the EPC number from 1x10<sup>6</sup> to 2x10<sup>6</sup> (db/db-AdGFP-EPCs) increased capillary formation. These data demonstrate that either restoration of EPC functional activity by MnSOD gene therapy prior to transplant or increasing the number of dEPCs is effective in improving in vivo angiogenesis of diabetic wounds.

Figure 16. EPC therapy improves angiogenesis in mouse skin after wounding. A. On day 3 after wounding, capillary formation was significantly greater in db/+ mice compared to all db/db groups (black bars) (#P<0.05, db/+ vs. all other groups, n=4-5). B. On day 6 after wounding, angiogenesis was increased in normal (db/+) and in T2D (db/db) mice treated with 1x10<sup>6</sup> EPCs isolated from: normal mice (1x10<sup>6</sup> db/+-EPCs), T2D mice after MnSOD gene therapy (1x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs), treated with 2x10<sup>6</sup> EPCs from T2D mice after MnSOD gene therapy (2x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs) or the GFP control (2x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdGFP-EPCs) compared to T2D mice (db/db) without treatment (\*P<0.05, db/db vs. db/+, db/db,  $1x10^{6}$  db/+-EPCs,  $1x10^{6}$  db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs, 2x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs, 2x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdGFP-EPCs n=5). T2D (db/db) mice without cell therapy and db/db mice treated with 1x10<sup>6</sup> EPCs from db/db mice (db/db-EPCs) or the GFP control (1x10<sup>6</sup> db/db-AdGFP-EPCs) continued to demonstrate diminished capillary formation compared to the normal (db/+) mice (#P<0.05 vs. db/+, n=5). Representative photographs of CD31 staining on day 6 after wounding for normal db/+ mice (C 40x, D 200x), db/db mice (E 40x, F 200x), and db/db with EPC cell therapy of  $1 \times 10^6$ : normal db/+-EPCs (G 40x, H 200x). db/db-EPCs (I 40x, J 200x), db/db-AdMnSOD-EPCs (K 40x, L 200x), db/db-AdGFP-EPCs (M 40x, N 200x) and 2x10<sup>6</sup> EPCs: db/db-AdMnSOD-EPC (O 40x, P 200x), db/db-AdGFP-EPCs (Q 40x, R 200x). Green arrows point to CD31 positive capillaries (Scale for 40x = 500 µm, 200x = 100 µm) (W=wound, Dm=dermis, Ep= epidermis). Figure 16S. On day 16 after wounding, T2D mice (db/db) angiogenesis was diminished compared to normal mice db/+ (#P<0.05

db/+ vs. db/db, n=5).







Scale for C, E, G, I is 40x = 500  $\mu m,$  Scale for D, F, H, J is 200x = 100  $\mu m$ 

#### Figure 16 continued.



Scale for K, M, O, Q is 40x = 500  $\mu m,$  Scale for L, N, P, R is 200x = 100  $\mu m$ 



**Transplanted EPCs integrated into wound vasculature.** To determine the fate and location of transplanted EPCs *in vivo*, normal EPCs isolated from db/+ mice were incubated with BrdU in EGM-2 starting on day 5 of cell culture. After day seven of culture, 2x10<sup>6</sup> cells were transplanted onto a 6mm punch biopsy wound of a db/db mouse at the time of wounding. On day 6 after wound healing, the wound and surrounding skin were recovered and stained for BrdU positive EPCs. BrdU-positive EPCs were integrated into vascular structures and the dermis (Figure 17 A-D). Previous studies have found that bone marrow-derived progenitor cells integrate into multiple structures in skin (154, 156), and these data provide further evidence for these findings.





**Figure 17. Transplanted EPCs integrate into the skin and vasculature.** 2x10<sup>6</sup> BrdU labeled db/+-EPCs were transplanted onto 6mm punch biopsy wounds of db/db mice at the time of wounding. On day 6 after wounding, tissue was isolated, fixed and stained for BrudU (Brown staining cells). Representative photographs demonstrated EPC integrating into the dermis **A** (40x), **B** (200x), **C** (200x) and **D** vascular structure, green arrow (400x), (Scale for 40x =500 μm, for 200x = 100 μm, for 400x =50 μm, W=wound, Dm=dermis, Ep= epidermis).

Figure 18.



**Figure 18. Model of EPC therapy for diabetic wound healing**. Both the functional ability and number of transplanted EPCs contribute to accelerated wound healing. MnSOD gene therapy of dEPCs, in addition to increasing transplanted EPC number, results in synergistic improvement of wound closure.

### Discussion

In this study, the transplantation of EPCs was explored as a form of cell therapy for diabetic wound healing, which compensates for db/db-EPCs migration impairment. Transplantation of  $1 \times 10^6$  normal EPCs to diabetic wounds was first performed. This strategy restored the markedly delayed wound healing of diabetic mice to the normal control level. The same number  $(1 \times 10^6)$  of db/db-EPCs was transplanted to diabetic wounds. The results indicate both normal and db/db-EPCs significantly improved the rate of wound healing in diabetic mice. However, while transplantation of db/db-EPCs improved wound healing, the rate of wound healing was significantly less compared to normal EPC transplantation. This result strongly suggests that the dysfunction found in dEPCs diminishes their ability to accelerate wound repair.

EPCs isolated from T2D mice demonstrate impaired functions such as, adhesion, migration and network formation on Matrigel (described in chapters 3-4). MnSOD gene therapy of db/db-EPCs improved network formation on Matrigel, but did not improve the ability of db/db-EPCs to adhere in vitronectin in culture. These data indicate that restoration of db/db-EPC angiogenic function by MnSOD gene therapy is a feasible approach to at least partially compensate for dysfunction. Given these findings, the use of MnSOD gene therapy to improve db/db-EPC functional activity prior to transplantation was explored.

In comparison to the GFP marker gene group, transplantation of

MnSOD-transfected db/db-EPCs significantly improved wound healing. However, this improvement did not match that of normal EPCs with the same cell number (i.e.  $1x10^{6}$  EPCs), this was consistent with previous studies that showed transplanted db/db-EPCs exhibit diminished regenerative capacity compared to normal EPCs (72, 73, 112).

We then asked the question: could increasing the number of db/db-EPCs alone compensate for their dysfunction? In other words, does a "dosage effect" exist with EPC cell therapy? By doubling the cell number from  $1\times10^6$  to  $2\times10^6$ , we found that transplantation of db/db-EPCs significantly improved the rate of wound healing. Interestingly, the dosage effect of doubling the db/db-EPCs to  $2\times10^6$  was similar to MnSOD-transfected db/db-EPCs at  $1\times10^6$  in promoting wound healing *in vivo*. This highlights the importance of MnSOD for EPC functional activity. Furthermore, when the number of MnSOD-transfected db/db-EPCs was also increased to  $2\times10^6$ , it resulted in complete restoration of wound healing equivalent to what normal EPCs achieved. Together, these observations suggest that the number and angiogenic function of EPCs work synergistically in wound healing.

The findings in this study have broad implications for the use of progenitor/stem cell therapy to induce regeneration in injured/ischemic tissue. The number of transplanted progenitor/stem cells needed for a given area of injury has yet to be optimized. In addition, isolated progenitor/stem cells from

patients or animal models with systemic disease may negatively impact affect progenitor/stem cell regenerative ability in individuals with diabetes, hypertension and cardiovascular disease. In this study, the evidence provided demonstrates that both the number and functional activity of progenitor cells used for therapy are important considerations in development of novel progenitor/stem cell therapies.

Despite current clinical therapies and the large number of studies that have been performed to improve diabetic wound healing, refractory diabetic wound healing remains a significant clinical problem that can lead to limb amputation. The pathophysiology that leads to impaired wound healing is complex, and therefore multiple approaches may be necessary in order to significantly impact care of diabetic wound healing. Here immunocompetent syngeneic mice were used to isolate and transplant EPCs, which results in an autograft. The results in chapter 4 demonstrate that the angiogenic function of EPCs isolated from T2D mice can be improved with MnSOD gene therapy. The data acquired in this study suggest that both the number and functional activity of transplanted EPCs are important for outcome. Improving the functional activity of dEPCs via MnSOD gene therapy prior to transplantation or increasing the number of dEPCs transplanted improves angiogenesis and accelerates the rate of diabetic wound healing. In developing novel cell therapies for human patients with DM. improving cell functional activity through gene therapy prior to transplantation, in combination with, determining the optimal number of progenitor cells needed for

transplantation may compensate for EPC dysfunction in DM.

### **Technical Acknowledgements**

I would like the following people for their participation in this project:

Jeff Hakim for assistance with several EPC recoveries and for his help with RNA isolation and RT-PCR.

Dan-Dan Chen for her assistance with several EPC recoveries and her part in characterizing EPCs with Dil-Ac-LDL and isolectin staining.

The Michigan State University Histology laboratory for their part in preparing and staining of tissue sections for CD31 and Brdu positive cells.

Jiemei Wang for running the Western Blot in which the MOI for MnSOD viral transfection was determined.

Paramita Chakraborty of C-Stat and Dr. Carrie Northcott of the Department of Pharmacology for their assistance with the statistical analysis of the rate of wound closure.

## **CHAPTER 6**

# SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE

Novel findings in this study may lead to the practical therapeutic use of diabetes-derived EPCs for diabetic wound healing. The results of this study demonstrate that diminished MnSOD expression contributes to EPC dysfunction in T2DM. EPCs from T2D mice underwent MnSOD gene therapy and demonstrated improved network formation on Matrigel. In addition, after *ex vivo* MnSOD gene therapy, EPCs were transplanted onto diabetic wounds. The outcome of these *in vivo* experiments demonstrated that MnSOD gene therapy improved the ability of diabetes-derived EPCs to promote acceleration of wound healing and to induce angiogenesis. Together the results of the *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments suggest that MnSOD deficiency in T2DM contributes to EPC dysfunction.

Future studies should further characterize the findings in this study. In the present study, Dil-AcLDL and isolectin binding were used to characterize mouse bone marrow derived-EPCs. The use of cell surface markers, such as Sca-1, Flk-1, and CD31, may also be useful in characterizing mouse bone marrow derived-EPCs (54, 56, 64). In the appendix, a histogram (Figure 19), demonstrates that the auto-fluorescence of bone marrow derived-EPCs is very high in both the red (PE) and green (FITC) spectrum. In order to characterize these cells with immunostaining and flow cytometry, future studies should re-examine the cells on a flow cytometer, and determine the spectrum in which the least autofluorescence is found. The information provided from such experiments may allow for the use of fluorochromes other than PE or FITC.

Additionally, the activity of MnSOD needs to be further characterized both in vitro and in situ. If a difference in the activity of MnSOD between db/+ EPCs and db/db-EPCs is found, it would provide further evidence that the diminished level of MnSOD found in db/db-EPCs plays a role in dysfunction. Additionally, isolation of mitochondrial and cytoplasmic MnSOD from both db/+ and db/db EPCs, followed by determination of MnSOD activity would provide information about the localization of MnSOD. Studies (107, 108) that determined that elevated levels of MnSOD, compared to mature endothelial cells, are required for normal EPC activity did not localize MnSOD. In this study it was found that MnSOD expression level is important for angiogenesis (Figure 10). Knowing whether MnSOD in EPCs is predominantly localized to the mitochondria or cytoplasm would be a step in characterizing the mechanism by which MnSOD aids in the induction of angiogenesis. Also, the result in Figure 8, in which gene therapy decreases ROS in EPCs, was only carried out once, with an n=1. Further studies are obviously needed to determine reproducibility of this finding.

The db/db model is a well-established T2D mouse model in which EPC functional studies have been previously performed (50, 71, 82). These mice have a defect in the leptin receptor (OB-Rb) found in the hypothalamus, which leads to hyperphagia, and subsequently obesity, hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, and insulin resistance (19, 128). Patients with T2D can develop leptin resistance, which is believed to be, in part, caused by hyperleptinemia (155, 157, 158).

Similar to patients with T2DM, db/db mice also express hyperleptinemia (19, 128). Additionally, patients with impaired wound healing secondary to diabetes have demonstrated a lack of OB-Rb leptin receptor expression in the wound (146). This supports the use of db/db mice as a suitable model for wound healing. However, this study should be repeated in a model that does not have a defect in the leptin receptor, such as the Tallyho mouse (159, 160), to confirm that EPC dysfunction in this study is strictly related to diabetes.

The integration of transplanted EPCs into a diabetic wound in Figure 17 is also demonstrative (n=1). This should be repeated to confirm the results. In addition, further immunohistochemistry such as CD31 staining should be performed. Combination CD31 and BrdU labeling will provide stronger evidence that the vascular like structures in fact are capillaries.

Another novel finding in this study is that when using progenitor cells for therapy, there is a synergistic effect between the number and functional activity of progenitor cells for the induction of regeneration. Impaired angiogenesis in diabetic wound healing is a significant clinical problem that can lead to tissue necrosis and subsequent amputation. This study provides proof of principle that, despite previous findings (73, 112), dEPCs can be used therapeutically to induce angiogenesis and diabetic wound healing, when both the functional activity and the number of cells transplanted are considered.
In previous studies, investigators have reported additional putative mechanisms that lead to EPC dysfunction in diabetes. These studies have demonstrated that EPC dysfunction was caused by elevated TSP-1 expression (82), impaired NO production (76, 96), activation of the Akt/p53/p21 signaling pathway (100), activation of p38 (85, 92), increased oxidative stress (93) and in the present study, decreased MnSOD expression. Given the finding in this study, that reversal of dEPC dysfunction can improve the therapeutic capacity of these cells, future studies should be performed to determine which mechanism or mechanisms, if reversed, would best restore the EPC functional activity in diabetes.

This and other studies have found that EPCs isolated from diabetics do not regain normal functional activity after incubation in euglycemic cell media. This was found to be true for both human and animal EPCs isolated from diabetics (71, 82, 96, 161, 162). In addition, this and other studies found that this dysfunction is heritable (71, 82). Currently no term exists to describe persistent dysfunction of disease induced cellular pathophysiology. Therefore, I suggest using the term cytomneosis (derived from Greek: cell memory of disease). Several possible mechanisms may cause cytomneosis. Because this persistent dysfunction is heritable, mechanisms that cause alterations in gene expression should be explored, such as DNA mutation, change in epigenetic regulation (such as DNA methylation) and change in micro-RNA expression. The present study and one earlier study (93) have found that ROS is increased in dEPCs. The possibility

that hyperglycemia or elevated ROS causes altered gene expression, and that the change in gene expression is then maintained from parent to daughter cells, should also be explored. Unclear is whether one mechanism or "multiple-hits" lead to persistent dysfunction in dEPCs. Characterization of cytomneosis could lead to a possible drug target or gene therapy target that if reversed fully, could restore EPC functional activity in diabetes. This in turn would increase the efficacy of autologous EPC therapy in diabetic wound healing.

This study also has broad implications for progenitor/stem cell therapy in general. Currently there are many clinical trials underway for the use of progenitor/stem cells to regenerate ischemic/injured tissue. The finding in this study that there is a synergistic effect between the number and the functional activity of EPCs when used as a cell therapy could aid in the planning of future investigations. A recent study, for example, in which autologous progenitor cells from patients with diabetes were used to regenerate ischemic hearts in humans, found that these progenitor cells were not as effective as non-diabetic progenitor cells (112). In this study performed by Jiménez-Quevedo et al., the same number of cells was used for autologous transplants in both the diabetic and the non-diabetic groups (112). In developing future clinical studies, rapid, reliable functional assays should be developed that will allow investigators to determine the regenerative capacity of the progenitor cells from each individual. Investigators should then determine, given a specific progenitor cell dysfunction

and an area/volume of ischemic/injured tissue, the optimal number of progenitor cells needed to induce regeneration.

In this study, a previously unknown mechanism that contributes to dysfunction in diabetes was discovered, MnSOD deficiency. Gain of function was demonstrated with MnSOD gene therapy of dEPCs *in vitro*. These cells exhibited with improved network formation on Matrigel and *in vivo* with increased angiogenesis and rate of wound healing after EPC transplantation in diabetic mice. This study also found that both the functional activity and number of EPCs at the site of wound healing synergistically play a role in wound healing. The novel findings acquired in this study, including partial reversal of dEPC dysfunction and a greater mechanistic understanding of progenitor cell therapy, have broad implications and provide new therapeutic insight for the use of progenitor cells in the field of regenerative medicine.

## Appendix

## Flow Cytometry Analysis of Bone Marrow Derived EPCs

In this study, bone marrow derived-EPCs were identified with Dil-Ac-LDL/isolectin staining (Figure 3). An attempt was made to further characterize bone marrow derived-EPCs with immunostaining for Sca-1, Flk-1, c-kit and CD31. EPCs were isolated and cultured as described in Chapter 3, pages 55-56. After seven days in culture, cells were removed from 6 well plates with Versene (0.5 mM EDTA, Invtrogen). The EPCs were then placed in PBS with 2% albumin. Staining was performed with primary antibodies against Sca-1-FITC, Flk-1-PE, c-kit-PE, CD31-PE and run on a BD Vantage Flow cytometer.

The results in Figure 19 show flow cytometric analysis of bone marrow derived EPCs of **A.** cells only **B.** Flk-1-PE, **C.** CD31-PE, **D.** Sca-1-FITC, and **E.** c-kit-PE. Cells without staining, **A.**, demonstrate significant autofluorescence in the same spectra as both FITC and PE. In order to acquire an accurate analysis of bone marrow derived EPCs (BM-EPCs) future studies must use a fluorochrome that has minimal spectral overlap with the autofluorescence of the cells. Accurate analysis of BM-EPCs will allow for a quantitative analysis and comparison of both db/+ and db/db EPCs.

Figure 19.



Figure 19. Flow cytometric analysis of bone marrow derived EPCs of A. cells only B. Flk-1-PE, C. CD31-PE, D. Sca-1-FITC, and E. c-kit-PE.

## References

- 1. Anthony S. Fauci, E.B., Dennis L. Kasper, Stephen L. Hauser, Dan L. Longo, J. Larry Jameson, and Joseph Loscalzo. 2008. Diabetes Mellitus <u>www.accessmedicine.com/content.aspx?alD=289109</u>. In *Harrison'sOnline*.
- 2. CDC. 2008. <u>http://apps.nccd.cdc.gov/DDTSTRS/FactSheet.aspx</u>.
- 3. CDC. 2008. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pubs/</u>.
- 4. Guilherme, A., Virbasius, J.V., Puri, V., and Czech, M.P. 2008. Adipocyte dysfunctions linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 9:367-377.
- 5. Muoio, D.M., and Newgard, C.B. 2008. Mechanisms of disease: molecular and metabolic mechanisms of insulin resistance and beta-cell failure in type 2 diabetes. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 9:193-205.
- 6. Myers, A. 2005. *Medicine.* Maryland, USA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Baltimore. 514-532 pp.
- 7. Knip, M., and Siljander, H. 2008. Autoimmune mechanisms in type 1 diabetes. *Autoimmun Rev* 7:550-557.
- 8. Oliver-Krasinski, J.M., and Stoffers, D.A. 2008. On the origin of the beta cell. *Genes Dev* 22:1998-2021.
- 9. Hyttinen, V., Kaprio, J., Kinnunen, L., Koskenvuo, M., and Tuomilehto, J. 2003. Genetic liability of type 1 diabetes and the onset age among 22,650 young Finnish twin pairs: a nationwide follow-up study. *Diabetes* 52:1052-1055.
- 10. Pickup, J.C., and Sutton, A.J. 2008. Severe hypoglycaemia and glycaemic control in Type 1 diabetes: meta-analysis of multiple daily insulin injections compared with continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion. *Diabet Med* 25:765-774.
- 11. Jakisch, B.I., Wagner, V.M., Heidtmann, B., Lepler, R., Holterhus, P.M., Kapellen, T.M., Vogel, C., Rosenbauer, J., and Holl, R.W. 2008. Comparison of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII) and multiple daily injections (MDI) in paediatric Type 1 diabetes: a multicentre matched-pair cohort analysis over 3 years. *Diabet Med* 25:80-85.
- 12. Garg, S., and Jovanovic, L. 2006. Relationship of fasting and hourly blood glucose levels to HbA1c values: safety, accuracy, and improvements in glucose profiles obtained using a 7-day continuous glucose sensor. *Diabetes Care* 29:2644-2649.

- 13. Rohlfing, C.L., Wiedmeyer, H.M., Little, R.R., England, J.D., Tennill, A., and Goldstein, D.E. 2002. Defining the relationship between plasma glucose and HbA(1c): analysis of glucose profiles and HbA(1c) in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. *Diabetes Care* 25:275-278.
- 14. Petersen, K.F., and Shulman, G.I. 2006. Etiology of insulin resistance. *Am J Med* 119:S10-16.
- 15. Stephens, J.M., Lee, J., and Pilch, P.F. 1997. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes is accompanied by a loss of insulin receptor substrate-1 and GLUT4 expression without a loss of insulin receptor-mediated signal transduction. *J Biol Chem* 272:971-976.
- 16. Kanda, H., Tateya, S., Tamori, Y., Kotani, K., Hiasa, K., Kitazawa, R., Kitazawa, S., Miyachi, H., Maeda, S., Egashira, K., et al. 2006. MCP-1 contributes to macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue, insulin resistance, and hepatic steatosis in obesity. *J Clin Invest* 116:1494-1505.
- 17. Xu, H., Barnes, G.T., Yang, Q., Tan, G., Yang, D., Chou, C.J., Sole, J., Nichols, A., Ross, J.S., Tartaglia, L.A., et al. 2003. Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* 112:1821-1830.
- Yu, C., Chen, Y., Cline, G.W., Zhang, D., Zong, H., Wang, Y., Bergeron, R., Kim, J.K., Cushman, S.W., Cooney, G.J., et al. 2002. Mechanism by which fatty acids inhibit insulin activation of insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1)-associated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity in muscle. *J Biol Chem* 277:50230-50236.
- 19. Trousdale, R.K., Jacobs, S., Simhaee, D.A., Wu, J.K., and Lustbader, J.W. 2009. Wound closure and metabolic parameter variability in a db/db mouse model for diabetic ulcers. *J Surg Res* 151:100-107.
- 20. Boyko, E.J., Ahroni, J.H., Cohen, V., Nelson, K.M., and Heagerty, P.J. 2006. Prediction of diabetic foot ulcer occurrence using commonly available clinical information: the Seattle Diabetic Foot Study. *Diabetes Care* 29:1202-1207.
- 21. Benotmane, A., Mohammedi, F., Ayad, F., Kadi, K., and Azzouz, A. 2000. Diabetic foot lesions: etiologic and prognostic factors. *Diabetes Metab* 26:113-117.
- 22. Brem, H., Sheehan, P., Rosenberg, H.J., Schneider, J.S., and Boulton, A.J. 2006. Evidence-based protocol for diabetic foot ulcers. *Plast Reconstr*

*Surg* 117:193S-209S; discussion 210S-211S.

- 23. Broughton, G., 2nd, Janis, J.E., and Attinger, C.E. 2006. The basic science of wound healing. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 117:12S-34S.
- 24. Kumar V, A.A., Fausto N,. 2005. *Tissue Renewal and Repair: Regeneration, Healing, and Fibrosis. Kumar:Robbins and Cotran: Pathologic Basis of Disease.* Chapter 3 pp.
- 25. Brem, H., and Tomic-Canic, M. 2007. Cellular and molecular basis of wound healing in diabetes. *J Clin Invest* 117:1219-1222.
- 26. Kawamoto, A., and Losordo, D.W. 2008. Endothelial progenitor cells for cardiovascular regeneration. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 18:33-37.
- 27. Keswani, S.G., Katz, A.B., Lim, F.Y., Zoltick, P., Radu, A., Alaee, D., Herlyn, M., and Crombleholme, T.M. 2004. Adenoviral mediated gene transfer of PDGF-B enhances wound healing in type I and type II diabetic wounds. *Wound Repair Regen* 12:497-504.
- 28. Kumar V, A.A., Fausto N. 2005. Acute and Chronic Inflammation. In *Kumar: Robbins and Cotran: Pathologic Basis of Disease*.
- Medeiros, R., Rodrigues, G.B., Figueiredo, C.P., Rodrigues, E.B., Grumman, A., Jr., Menezes-de-Lima, O., Jr., Passos, G.F., and Calixto, J.B. 2008. Molecular mechanisms of topical anti-inflammatory effects of lipoxin A(4) in endotoxin-induced uveitis. *Mol Pharmacol* 74:154-161.
- 30. Smola, H., Thiekotter, G., and Fusenig, N.E. 1993. Mutual induction of growth factor gene expression by epidermal-dermal cell interaction. *J Cell Biol* 122:417-429.
- 31. Brem, H., Sheehan, P., and Boulton, A.J. 2004. Protocol for treatment of diabetic foot ulcers. *Am J Surg* 187:1S-10S.
- 32. Domenig, C.M., Hamdan, A.D., Holzenbein, T.J., Kansal, N., Aulivola, B., Skillman, J.J., Campbell, D.R., LoGerfo, F.W., and Pomposelli, F.B., Jr. 2005. Timing of pedal bypass failure and its impact on the need for amputation. *Ann Vasc Surg* 19:56-62.
- 33. Falanga, V. 2005. Wound healing and its impairment in the diabetic foot. *Lancet* 366:1736-1743.
- Faries, P.L., Teodorescu, V.J., Morrissey, N.J., Hollier, L.H., and Marin, M.L. 2004. The role of surgical revascularization in the management of diabetic foot wounds. *Am J Surg* 187:34S-37S.

- 35. Pomposelli, F.B., Jr., Marcaccio, E.J., Gibbons, G.W., Campbell, D.R., Freeman, D.V., Burgess, A.M., Miller, A., and LoGerfo, F.W. 1995. Dorsalis pedis arterial bypass: durable limb salvage for foot ischemia in patients with diabetes mellitus. *J Vasc Surg* 21:375-384.
- 36. Roncalli, J.G., Tongers, J., Renault, M.A., and Losordo, D.W. 2008. Endothelial progenitor cells in regenerative medicine and cancer: a decade of research. *Trends Biotechnol* 26:276-283.
- 37. Cardinal, M., Eisenbud, D.E., Phillips, T., and Harding, K. 2008. Early healing rates and wound area measurements are reliable predictors of later complete wound closure. *Wound Repair Regen* 16:19-22.
- 38. Gallagher, K.A., Liu, Z.J., Xiao, M., Chen, H., Goldstein, L.J., Buerk, D.G., Nedeau, A., Thom, S.R., and Velazquez, O.C. 2007. Diabetic impairments in NO-mediated endothelial progenitor cell mobilization and homing are reversed by hyperoxia and SDF-1 alpha. *J Clin Invest* 117:1249-1259.
- 39. Luo, J.D., Wang, Y.Y., Fu, W.L., Wu, J., and Chen, A.F. 2004. Gene therapy of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and manganese superoxide dismutase restores delayed wound healing in type 1 diabetic mice. *Circulation* 110:2484-2493.
- 40. Usui, M.L., Mansbridge, J.N., Carter, W.G., Fujita, M., and Olerud, J.E. 2008. Keratinocyte migration, proliferation, and differentiation in chronic ulcers from patients with diabetes and normal wounds. *J Histochem Cytochem* 56:687-696.
- 41. Lan, C.C., Liu, I.H., Fang, A.H., Wen, C.H., and Wu, C.S. 2008. Hyperglycaemic conditions decrease cultured keratinocyte mobility: implications for impaired wound healing in patients with diabetes. *Br J Dermatol* 159:1103-1115.
- 42. Morita, K., Urabe, K., Moroi, Y., Koga, T., Nagai, R., Horiuchi, S., and Furue, M. 2005. Migration of keratinocytes is impaired on glycated collagen I. *Wound Repair Regen* 13:93-101.
- 43. Brem, H., Stojadinovic, O., Diegelmann, R.F., Entero, H., Lee, B., Pastar, I., Golinko, M., Rosenberg, H., and Tomic-Canic, M. 2007. Molecular markers in patients with chronic wounds to guide surgical debridement. *Mol Med* 13:30-39.
- 44. Burrow, J.W., Koch, J.A., Chuang, H.H., Zhong, W., Dean, D.D., and Sylvia, V.L. 2007. Nitric oxide donors selectively reduce the expression of matrix metalloproteinases-8 and -9 by human diabetic skin fibroblasts. *J Surg Res* 140:90-98.

- 45. Lobmann, R., Ambrosch, A., Schultz, G., Waldmann, K., Schiweck, S., and Lehnert, H. 2002. Expression of matrix-metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in the wounds of diabetic and non-diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* 45:1011-1016.
- 46. Kim, B.C., Kim, H.T., Park, S.H., Cha, J.S., Yufit, T., Kim, S.J., and Falanga, V. 2003. Fibroblasts from chronic wounds show altered TGF-beta-signaling and decreased TGF-beta Type II receptor expression. *J Cell Physiol* 195:331-336.
- 47. Loots, M.A., Lamme, E.N., Mekkes, J.R., Bos, J.D., and Middelkoop, E. 1999. Cultured fibroblasts from chronic diabetic wounds on the lower extremity (non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus) show disturbed proliferation. *Arch Dermatol Res* 291:93-99.
- 48. Lerman, O.Z., Galiano, R.D., Armour, M., Levine, J.P., and Gurtner, G.C. 2003. Cellular dysfunction in the diabetic fibroblast: impairment in migration, vascular endothelial growth factor production, and response to hypoxia. *Am J Pathol* 162:303-312.
- 49. Lee, F.Y., Li, Y., Yang, E.K., Yang, S.Q., Lin, H.Z., Trush, M.A., Dannenberg, A.J., and Diehl, A.M. 1999. Phenotypic abnormalities in macrophages from leptin-deficient, obese mice. *Am J Physiol* 276:C386-394.
- 50. Maruyama, K., Asai, J., Ii, M., Thorne, T., Losordo, D.W., and D'Amore, P.A. 2007. Decreased macrophage number and activation lead to reduced lymphatic vessel formation and contribute to impaired diabetic wound healing. *Am J Pathol* 170:1178-1191.
- 51. Asahara, T., Murohara, T., Sullivan, A., Silver, M., van der Zee, R., Li, T., Witzenbichler, B., Schatteman, G., and Isner, J.M. 1997. Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. *Science* 275:964-967.
- 52. Urbich, C., and Dimmeler, S. 2004. Endothelial progenitor cells: characterization and role in vascular biology. *Circ Res* 95:343-353.
- 53. Fan, C.L., Li, Y., Gao, P.J., Liu, J.J., Zhang, X.J., and Zhu, D.L. 2003. Differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells from human umbilical cord blood CD 34+ cells in vitro. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 24:212-218.
- 54. Galasso, G., Schiekofer, S., Sato, K., Shibata, R., Handy, D.E., Ouchi, N., Leopold, J.A., Loscalzo, J., and Walsh, K. 2006. Impaired angiogenesis in glutathione peroxidase-1-deficient mice is associated with endothelial

progenitor cell dysfunction. Circ Res 98:254-261.

- 55. George, J., Afek, A., Abashidze, A., Shmilovich, H., Deutsch, V., Kopolovich, J., Miller, H., and Keren, G. 2005. Transfer of endothelial progenitor and bone marrow cells influences atherosclerotic plaque size and composition in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 25:2636-2641.
- 56. Hamada, H., Kim, M.K., Iwakura, A., Ii, M., Thorne, T., Qin, G., Asai, J., Tsutsumi, Y., Sekiguchi, H., Silver, M., et al. 2006. Estrogen receptors alpha and beta mediate contribution of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells to functional recovery after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 114:2261-2270.
- 57. Kawamoto, A., and Asahara, T. 2007. Role of progenitor endothelial cells in cardiovascular disease and upcoming therapies. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 70:477-484.
- 58. Kim, S.Y., Park, S.Y., Kim, J.M., Kim, J.W., Kim, M.Y., Yang, J.H., Kim, J.O., Choi, K.H., Kim, S.B., and Ryu, H.M. 2005. Differentiation of endothelial cells from human umbilical cord blood AC133-CD14+ cells. *Ann Hematol* 84:417-422.
- 59. Masuda, H., Kalka, C., Takahashi, T., Yoshida, M., Wada, M., Kobori, M., Itoh, R., Iwaguro, H., Eguchi, M., Iwami, Y., et al. 2007. Estrogen-mediated endothelial progenitor cell biology and kinetics for physiological postnatal vasculogenesis. *Circ Res* 101:598-606.
- 60. Mogi, M., Walsh, K., Iwai, M., and Horiuchi, M. 2008. Akt-FOXO3a signaling affects human endothelial progenitor cell differentiation. *Hypertens Res* 31:153-159.
- 61. Rehman, J., Li, J., Orschell, C.M., and March, K.L. 2003. Peripheral blood "endothelial progenitor cells" are derived from monocyte/macrophages and secrete angiogenic growth factors. *Circulation* 107:1164-1169.
- 62. Salvatore, P., Casamassimi, A., Sommese, L., Fiorito, C., Ciccodicola, A., Rossiello, R., Avallone, B., Grimaldi, V., Costa, V., Rienzo, M., et al. 2008. Detrimental effects of Bartonella henselae are counteracted by L-arginine and nitric oxide in human endothelial progenitor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105:9427-9432.
- 63. Urao, N., Inomata, H., Razvi, M., Kim, H.W., Wary, K., McKinney, R., Fukai, T., and Ushio-Fukai, M. 2008. Role of nox2-based NADPH oxidase in bone marrow and progenitor cell function involved in neovascularization induced by hindlimb ischemia. *Circ Res* 103:212-220.

- 64. Wang, Q.R., Wang, B.H., Huang, Y.H., Dai, G., Li, W.M., and Yan, Q. 2008. Purification and growth of endothelial progenitor cells from murine bone marrow mononuclear cells. *J Cell Biochem* 103:21-29.
- 65. Yoon, C.H., Hur, J., Park, K.W., Kim, J.H., Lee, C.S., Oh, I.Y., Kim, T.Y., Cho, H.J., Kang, H.J., Chae, I.H., et al. 2005. Synergistic neovascularization by mixed transplantation of early endothelial progenitor cells and late outgrowth endothelial cells: the role of angiogenic cytokines and matrix metalloproteinases. *Circulation* 112:1618-1627.
- 66. Badorff, C., Brandes, R.P., Popp, R., Rupp, S., Urbich, C., Aicher, A., Fleming, I., Busse, R., Zeiher, A.M., and Dimmeler, S. 2003. Transdifferentiation of blood-derived human adult endothelial progenitor cells into functionally active cardiomyocytes. *Circulation* 107:1024-1032.

A ....

- 67. He, T., Smith, L.A., Harrington, S., Nath, K.A., Caplice, N.M., and Katusic, Z.S. 2004. Transplantation of circulating endothelial progenitor cells restores endothelial function of denuded rabbit carotid arteries. *Stroke* 35:2378-2384.
- 68. Lee, D.Y., Cho, T.J., Kim, J.A., Lee, H.R., Yoo, W.J., Chung, C.Y., and Choi, I.H. 2008. Mobilization of endothelial progenitor cells in fracture healing and distraction osteogenesis. *Bone* 42:932-941.
- 69. Leone, A.M., Rutella, S., Giannico, M.B., Perfetti, M., Zaccone, V., Brugaletta, S., Garramone, B., Niccoli, G., Porto, I., Liuzzo, G., et al. 2008. Effect of intensive vs standard statin therapy on endothelial progenitor cells and left ventricular function in patients with acute myocardial infarction: Statins for regeneration after acute myocardial infarction and PCI (STRAP) trial. *Int J Cardiol* 130:457-462.
- 70. Tongers, J., and Losordo, D.W. 2007. Frontiers in nephrology: the evolving therapeutic applications of endothelial progenitor cells. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 18:2843-2852.
- 71. Asai, J., Takenaka, H., Kusano, K.F., Ii, M., Luedemann, C., Curry, C., Eaton, E., Iwakura, A., Tsutsumi, Y., Hamada, H., et al. 2006. Topical sonic hedgehog gene therapy accelerates wound healing in diabetes by enhancing endothelial progenitor cell-mediated microvascular remodeling. *Circulation* 113:2413-2424.
- 72. Awad, O., Jiao, C., Ma, N., Dunnwald, M., and Schatteman, G.C. 2005. Obese diabetic mouse environment differentially affects primitive and monocytic endothelial cell progenitors. *Stem Cells* 23:575-583.
- 73. Caballero, S., Sengupta, N., Afzal, A., Chang, K.H., Li Calzi, S., Guberski,

D.L., Kern, T.S., and Grant, M.B. 2007. Ischemic vascular damage can be repaired by healthy, but not diabetic, endothelial progenitor cells. *Diabetes* 56:960-967.

- 74. Caplice, N.M., and Doyle, B. 2005. Vascular progenitor cells: origin and mechanisms of mobilization, differentiation, integration, and vasculogenesis. *Stem Cells Dev* 14:122-139.
- 75. Chen, L., Tredget, E.E., Wu, P.Y., and Wu, Y. 2008. Paracrine factors of mesenchymal stem cells recruit macrophages and endothelial lineage cells and enhance wound healing. *PLoS ONE* 3:e1886.
- 76. Chen, Y.H., Lin, S.J., Lin, F.Y., Wu, T.C., Tsao, C.R., Huang, P.H., Liu, P.L., Chen, Y.L., and Chen, J.W. 2007. High glucose impairs early and late endothelial progenitor cells by modifying nitric oxide-related but not oxidative stress-mediated mechanisms. *Diabetes* 56:1559-1568.
- 77. Fadini, G.P., Sartore, S., Agostini, C., and Avogaro, A. 2007. Significance of endothelial progenitor cells in subjects with diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 30:1305-1313.
- 78. Fazel, S.S., Chen, L., Angoulvant, D., Li, S.H., Weisel, R.D., Keating, A., and Li, R.K. 2008. Activation of c-kit is necessary for mobilization of reparative bone marrow progenitor cells in response to cardiac injury. *Faseb J* 22:930-940.
- 79. Gonzalez-Clemente, J.M., Pinies, J.A., Calle-Pascual, A., Saavedra, A., Sanchez, C., Bellido, D., Martin-Folgueras, T., Moraga, I., Recasens, A., Girbes, J., et al. 2008. Cardiovascular risk factor management is poorer in diabetic patients with undiagnosed peripheral arterial disease than in those with known coronary heart disease or cerebrovascular disease. Results of a nationwide study in tertiary diabetes centres. *Diabet Med* 25:427-434.
- 80. Hibi, K., Ishigami, T., Tamura, K., Mizushima, S., Nyui, N., Fujita, T., Ochiai, H., Kosuge, M., Watanabe, Y., Yoshii, Y., et al. 1998. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene polymorphism and acute myocardial infarction. *Hypertension* 32:521-526.
- 81. Hoenig, M.R., Bianchi, C., and Sellke, F.W. 2008. Hypoxia inducible factor-1 alpha, endothelial progenitor cells, monocytes, cardiovascular risk, wound healing, cobalt and hydralazine: a unifying hypothesis. *Curr Drug Targets* 9:422-435.
- 82. Ii, M., Takenaka, H., Asai, J., Ibusuki, K., Mizukami, Y., Maruyama, K., Yoon, Y.S., Wecker, A., Luedemann, C., Eaton, E., et al. 2006. Endothelial progenitor thrombospondin-1 mediates diabetes-induced delay in

reendothelialization following arterial injury. Circ Res 98:697-704.

- 83. Knopp, R.H., Paramsothy, P., Atkinson, B., and Dowdy, A. 2008. Comprehensive lipid management versus aggressive low-density lipoprotein lowering to reduce cardiovascular risk. *Am J Cardiol* 101:48B-57B.
- 84. Krankel, N., Adams, V., Linke, A., Gielen, S., Erbs, S., Lenk, K., Schuler, G., and Hambrecht, R. 2005. Hyperglycemia reduces survival and impairs function of circulating blood-derived progenitor cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 25:698-703.
- Kuki, S., Imanishi, T., Kobayashi, K., Matsuo, Y., Obana, M., and Akasaka, T. 2006. Hyperglycemia accelerated endothelial progenitor cell senescence via the activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Circ J* 70:1076-1081.
- 86. Landmesser, U., Dikalov, S., Price, S.R., McCann, L., Fukai, T., Holland, S.M., Mitch, W.E., and Harrison, D.G. 2003. Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin leads to uncoupling of endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase in hypertension. *J Clin Invest* 111:1201-1209.
- 87. Loomans, C.J., de Koning, E.J., Staal, F.J., Rookmaaker, M.B., Verseyden, C., de Boer, H.C., Verhaar, M.C., Braam, B., Rabelink, T.J., and van Zonneveld, A.J. 2004. Endothelial progenitor cell dysfunction: a novel concept in the pathogenesis of vascular complications of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 53:195-199.
- 88. Mostaza, J.M., Suarez, C., Manzano, L., Cairols, M., Lopez-Fernandez, F., Aguilar, I., Diz Lois, F., Sampedro, J.L., Sanchez-Huelva, H., and Sanchez-Zamorano, M.A. 2008. Sub-clinical vascular disease in type 2 diabetic subjects: relationship with chronic complications of diabetes and the presence of cardiovascular disease risk factors. *Eur J Intern Med* 19:255-260.
- 89. Prunier, F., Pfister, O., Hadri, L., Liang, L., Del Monte, F., Liao, R., and Hajjar, R.J. 2007. Delayed erythropoietin therapy reduces post-MI cardiac remodeling only at a dose that mobilizes endothelial progenitor cells. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 292:H522-529.
- 90. Rafii, D.C., Psaila, B., Butler, J., Jin, D.K., and Lyden, D. 2008. Regulation of vasculogenesis by platelet-mediated recruitment of bone marrow-derived cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 28:217-222.
- 91. Schatteman, G.C., Hanlon, H.D., Jiao, C., Dodds, S.G., and Christy, B.A. 2000. Blood-derived angioblasts accelerate blood-flow restoration in diabetic mice. *J Clin Invest* 106:571-578.

- Seeger, F.H., Haendeler, J., Walter, D.H., Rochwalsky, U., Reinhold, J., Urbich, C., Rossig, L., Corbaz, A., Chvatchko, Y., Zeiher, A.M., et al. 2005. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase downregulates endothelial progenitor cells. *Circulation* 111:1184-1191.
- 93. Sorrentino, S.A., Bahlmann, F.H., Besler, C., Muller, M., Schulz, S., Kirchhoff, N., Doerries, C., Horvath, T., Limbourg, A., Limbourg, F., et al. 2007. Oxidant stress impairs in vivo reendothelialization capacity of endothelial progenitor cells from patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: restoration by the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonist rosiglitazone. *Circulation* 116:163-173.
- 94. Sutter, C.H., Laughner, E., and Semenza, G.L. 2000. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha protein expression is controlled by oxygen-regulated ubiquitination that is disrupted by deletions and missense mutations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97:4748-4753.
- 95. Tepper, O.M., Galiano, R.D., Capla, J.M., Kalka, C., Gagne, P.J., Jacobowitz, G.R., Levine, J.P., and Gurtner, G.C. 2002. Human endothelial progenitor cells from type II diabetics exhibit impaired proliferation, adhesion, and incorporation into vascular structures. *Circulation* 106:2781-2786.
- 96. Thum, T., Fraccarollo, D., Schultheiss, M., Froese, S., Galuppo, P., Widder, J.D., Tsikas, D., Ertl, G., and Bauersachs, J. 2007. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase uncoupling impairs endothelial progenitor cell mobilization and function in diabetes. *Diabetes* 56:666-674.
- 97. Walter, D.H., Rittig, K., Bahlmann, F.H., Kirchmair, R., Silver, M., Murayama, T., Nishimura, H., Losordo, D.W., Asahara, T., and Isner, J.M. 2002. Statin therapy accelerates reendothelialization: a novel effect involving mobilization and incorporation of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells. *Circulation* 105:3017-3024.
- 98. Bauer, S.M., Bauer, R.J., Liu, Z.J., Chen, H., Goldstein, L., and Velazquez, O.C. 2005. Vascular endothelial growth factor-C promotes vasculogenesis, angiogenesis, and collagen constriction in three-dimensional collagen gels. *J Vasc Surg* 41:699-707.
- 99. Fadini, G.P., Miorin, M., Facco, M., Bonamico, S., Baesso, I., Grego, F., Menegolo, M., de Kreutzenberg, S.V., Tiengo, A., Agostini, C., et al. 2005. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells are reduced in peripheral vascular complications of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 45:1449-1457.
- 100. Rosso, A., Balsamo, A., Gambino, R., Dentelli, P., Falcioni, R., Cassader,

M., Pegoraro, L., Pagano, G., and Brizzi, M.F. 2006. p53 Mediates the accelerated onset of senescence of endothelial progenitor cells in diabetes. *J Biol Chem* 281:4339-4347.

- 101. Brownlee, M. 2001. Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications. *Nature* 414:813-820.
- 102. Brownlee, M. 2005. The pathobiology of diabetic complications: a unifying mechanism. *Diabetes* 54:1615-1625.
- 103. Ray, R., and Shah, A.M. 2005. NADPH oxidase and endothelial cell function. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 109:217-226.
- 104. Alp, N.J., and Channon, K.M. 2004. Regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by tetrahydrobiopterin in vascular disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 24:413-420.
- 105. Katusic, Z.S., and d'Uscio, L.V. 2004. Tetrahydrobiopterin: mediator of endothelial protection. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 24:397-398.
- 106. Epperly, M.W., Epstein, C.J., Travis, E.L., and Greenberger, J.S. 2000. Decreased pulmonary radiation resistance of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD)-deficient mice is corrected by human manganese superoxide dismutase-Plasmid/Liposome (SOD2-PL) intratracheal gene therapy. *Radiat Res* 154:365-374.
- 107. Dernbach, E., Urbich, C., Brandes, R.P., Hofmann, W.K., Zeiher, A.M., and Dimmeler, S. 2004. Antioxidative stress-associated genes in circulating progenitor cells: evidence for enhanced resistance against oxidative stress. *Blood* 104:3591-3597.
- 108. He, T., Peterson, T.E., Holmuhamedov, E.L., Terzic, A., Caplice, N.M., Oberley, L.W., and Katusic, Z.S. 2004. Human endothelial progenitor cells tolerate oxidative stress due to intrinsically high expression of manganese superoxide dismutase. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 24:2021-2027.
- 109. Kalka, C., Masuda, H., Takahashi, T., Kalka-Moll, W.M., Silver, M., Kearney, M., Li, T., Isner, J.M., and Asahara, T. 2000. Transplantation of ex vivo expanded endothelial progenitor cells for therapeutic neovascularization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97:3422-3427.
- Losordo, D.W., Schatz, R.A., White, C.J., Udelson, J.E., Veereshwarayya, V., Durgin, M., Poh, K.K., Weinstein, R., Kearney, M., Chaudhry, M., et al. 2007. Intramyocardial transplantation of autologous CD34+ stem cells for intractable angina: a phase I/IIa double-blind, randomized controlled trial. *Circulation* 115:3165-3172.

- 111. Schachinger, V., Assmus, B., Britten, M.B., Honold, J., Lehmann, R., Teupe, C., Abolmaali, N.D., Vogl, T.J., Hofmann, W.K., Martin, H., et al. 2004. Transplantation of progenitor cells and regeneration enhancement in acute myocardial infarction: final one-year results of the TOPCARE-AMI Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 44:1690-1699.
- 112. Jimenez-Quevedo, P., Silva, G.V., Sanz-Ruiz, R., Oliveira, E.M., Fernandes, M.R., Angeli, F., Willerson, J.T., Dohmann, H.F., and Perin, E.C. 2008. [Diabetic and nondiabetic patients respond differently to transendocardial injection of bone marrow mononuclear cells: findings from prospective clinical trials in "no-option" patients]. *Rev Esp Cardiol* 61:635-639.
- 113. Sivan-Loukianova, E., Awad, O.A., Stepanovic, V., Bickenbach, J., and Schatteman, G.C. 2003. CD34+ blood cells accelerate vascularization and healing of diabetic mouse skin wounds. *J Vasc Res* 40:368-377.
- 114. Suh, W., Kim, K.L., Kim, J.M., Shin, I.S., Lee, Y.S., Lee, J.Y., Jang, H.S., Lee, J.S., Byun, J., Choi, J.H., et al. 2005. Transplantation of endothelial progenitor cells accelerates dermal wound healing with increased recruitment of monocytes/macrophages and neovascularization. *Stem Cells* 23:1571-1578.
- 115. Wu, Y., Chen, L., Scott, P.G., and Tredget, E.E. 2007. Mesenchymal stem cells enhance wound healing through differentiation and angiogenesis. *Stem Cells* 25:2648-2659.
- 116. Kjorholt, C., Akerfeldt, M.C., Biden, T.J., and Laybutt, D.R. 2005. Chronic hyperglycemia, independent of plasma lipid levels, is sufficient for the loss of beta-cell differentiation and secretory function in the db/db mouse model of diabetes. *Diabetes* 54:2755-2763.
- 117. Sheehan, P. 2006. Early change in wound area as a predictor of healing in diabetic foot ulcers: knowing "when to say when". *Plast Reconstr Surg* 117:245S-247S.
- 118. Sheehan, P., Jones, P., Giurini, J.M., Caselli, A., and Veves, A. 2006. Percent change in wound area of diabetic foot ulcers over a 4-week period is a robust predictor of complete healing in a 12-week prospective trial. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 117:239S-244S.
- 119. Attinger, C.E., Janis, J.E., Steinberg, J., Schwartz, J., Al-Attar, A., and Couch, K. 2006. Clinical approach to wounds: debridement and wound bed preparation including the use of dressings and wound-healing adjuvants. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 117:72S-109S.

- 120. Broughton, G., 2nd, Janis, J.E., and Attinger, C.E. 2006. Wound healing: an overview. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 117:1e-S-32e-S.
- 121. Schuh, A., Liehn, E.A., Sasse, A., Hristov, M., Sobota, R., Kelm, M., Merx, M.W., and Weber, C. 2008. Transplantation of endothelial progenitor cells improves neovascularization and left ventricular function after myocardial infarction in a rat model. *Basic Res Cardiol* 103:69-77.
- 122. Sheikh, A.Y., Gibson, J.J., Rollins, M.D., Hopf, H.W., Hussain, Z., and Hunt, T.K. 2000. Effect of hyperoxia on vascular endothelial growth factor levels in a wound model. *Arch Surg* 135:1293-1297.
- 123. Blume, P.A., Walters, J., Payne, W., Ayala, J., and Lantis, J. 2008. Comparison of negative pressure wound therapy using vacuum-assisted closure with advanced moist wound therapy in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Care* 31:631-636.
- 124. Eneroth, M., and van Houtum, W.H. 2008. The value of debridement and Vacuum-Assisted Closure (V.A.C.) Therapy in diabetic foot ulcers. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* 24 Suppl 1:S76-80.
- 125. Dinh, T.L., and Veves, A. 2006. The efficacy of Apligraf in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 117:152S-157S; discussion 158S-159S.
- 126. Hill, J.M., Zalos, G., Halcox, J.P., Schenke, W.H., Waclawiw, M.A., Quyyumi, A.A., and Finkel, T. 2003. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells, vascular function, and cardiovascular risk. *N Engl J Med* 348:593-600.
- 127. Werner, N., Kosiol, S., Schiegl, T., Ahlers, P., Walenta, K., Link, A., Bohm, M., and Nickenig, G. 2005. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells and cardiovascular outcomes. *N Engl J Med* 353:999-1007.
- 128. Lollmann, B., Gruninger, S., Stricker-Krongrad, A., and Chiesi, M. 1997. Detection and quantification of the leptin receptor splice variants Ob-Ra, b, and, e in different mouse tissues. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 238:648-652.
- 129. Sullivan, S.R., Underwood, R.A., Gibran, N.S., Sigle, R.O., Usui, M.L., Carter, W.G., and Olerud, J.E. 2004. Validation of a model for the study of multiple wounds in the diabetic mouse (db/db). *Plast Reconstr Surg* 113:953-960.
- 130. Ouedraogo, R., Wu, X., Xu, S.Q., Fuchsel, L., Motoshima, H., Mahadev, K.,

Hough, K., Scalia, R., and Goldstein, B.J. 2006. Adiponectin suppression of high-glucose-induced reactive oxygen species in vascular endothelial cells: evidence for involvement of a cAMP signaling pathway. *Diabetes* 55:1840-1846.

- 131. Alvarez, B., Demicheli, V., Duran, R., Trujillo, M., Cervenansky, C., Freeman, B.A., and Radi, R. 2004. Inactivation of human Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase by peroxynitrite and formation of histidinyl radical. *Free Radic Biol Med* 37:813-822.
- 132. Zwacka, R.M., Dudus, L., Epperly, M.W., Greenberger, J.S., and Engelhardt, J.F. 1998. Redox gene therapy protects human IB-3 lung epithelial cells against ionizing radiation-induced apoptosis. *Hum Gene Ther* 9:1381-1386.
- 133. Frey, R.S., Ushio-Fukai, M., and Malik, A. 2008. NADPH Oxidase-Dependent Signaling in Endothelial Cells: Role in Physiology and Pathophysiology. *Antioxid Redox Signal*.
- 134. Nishikawa, T., and Araki, E. 2007. Impact of mitochondrial ROS production in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus and its complications. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 9:343-353.
- 135. Baumbach, G.L., Didion, S.P., and Faraci, F.M. 2006. Hypertrophy of cerebral arterioles in mice deficient in expression of the gene for CuZn superoxide dismutase. *Stroke* 37:1850-1855.
- 136. Li, Y., Huang, T.T., Carlson, E.J., Melov, S., Ursell, P.C., Olson, J.L., Noble, L.J., Yoshimura, M.P., Berger, C., Chan, P.H., et al. 1995. Dilated cardiomyopathy and neonatal lethality in mutant mice lacking manganese superoxide dismutase. *Nat Genet* 11:376-381.
- 137. t Hoen, P.A., Van der Lans, C.A., Van Eck, M., Bijsterbosch, M.K., Van Berkel, T.J., and Twisk, J. 2003. Aorta of ApoE-deficient mice responds to atherogenic stimuli by a prelesional increase and subsequent decrease in the expression of antioxidant enzymes. *Circ Res* 93:262-269.
- 138. Yuan, J.S., Reed, A., Chen, F., and Stewart, C.N., Jr. 2006. Statistical analysis of real-time PCR data. *BMC Bioinformatics* 7:85.
- 139. Mukhopadhyay, P., Rajesh, M., Yoshihiro, K., Hasko, G., and Pacher, P. 2007. Simple quantitative detection of mitochondrial superoxide production in live cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 358:203-208.
- 140. Hoye, A.T., Davoren, J.E., Wipf, P., Fink, M.P., and Kagan, V.E. 2008. Targeting mitochondria. *Acc Chem Res* 41:87-97.

- 141. Takahashi, T., Kalka, C., Masuda, H., Chen, D., Silver, M., Kearney, M., Magner, M., Isner, J.M., and Asahara, T. 1999. Ischemia- and cytokine-induced mobilization of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells for neovascularization. *Nat Med* 5:434-438.
- 142. Jin, Z.Q., Zhou, H.Z., Cecchini, G., Gray, M.O., and Karliner, J.S. 2005. MnSOD in mouse heart: acute responses to ischemic preconditioning and ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 288:H2986-2994.
- 143. Machida, S., and Booth, F.W. 2004. Increased nuclear proteins in muscle satellite cells in aged animals as compared to young growing animals. *Exp Gerontol* 39:1521-1525.
- 144. Rolo, A.P., and Palmeira, C.M. 2006. Diabetes and mitochondrial function: role of hyperglycemia and oxidative stress. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 212:167-178.
- 145. Robinson, K.M., Janes, M.S., Pehar, M., Monette, J.S., Ross, M.F., Hagen, T.M., Murphy, M.P., and Beckman, J.S. 2006. Selective fluorescent imaging of superoxide in vivo using ethidium-based probes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103:15038-15043.
- 146. Goren, I., Kampfer, H., Podda, M., Pfeilschifter, J., and Frank, S. 2003. Leptin and wound inflammation in diabetic ob/ob mice: differential regulation of neutrophil and macrophage influx and a potential role for the scab as a sink for inflammatory cells and mediators. *Diabetes* 52:2821-2832.
- 147. Sanderson, I.R., Ezzell, R.M., Kedinger, M., Erlanger, M., Xu, Z.X., Pringault, E., Leon-Robine, S., Louvard, D., and Walker, W.A. 1996. Human fetal enterocytes in vitro: modulation of the phenotype by extracellular matrix. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93:7717-7722.
- 148. Baatout, S. 1997. Endothelial differentiation using Matrigel (review). *Anticancer Res* 17:451-455.
- 149. Manginas, A., Goussetis, E., Koutelou, M., Karatasakis, G., Peristeri, I., Theodorakos, A., Leontiadis, E., Plessas, N., Theodosaki, M., Graphakos, S., et al. 2007. Pilot study to evaluate the safety and feasibility of intracoronary CD133(+) and CD133(-) CD34(+) cell therapy in patients with nonviable anterior myocardial infarction. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 69:773-781.
- 150. Nyolczas, N., Gyongyosi, M., Beran, G., Dettke, M., Graf, S., Sochor, H.,

Christ, G., Edes, I., Balogh, L., Krause, K.T., et al. 2007. Design and rationale for the Myocardial Stem Cell Administration After Acute Myocardial Infarction (MYSTAR) Study: a multicenter, prospective, randomized, single-blind trial comparing early and late intracoronary or combined (percutaneous intramyocardial and intracoronary) administration of nonselected autologous bone marrow cells to patients after acute myocardial infarction. *Am Heart J* 153:212 e211-217.

- 151. Iwaguro, H., Yamaguchi, J., Kalka, C., Murasawa, S., Masuda, H., Hayashi, S., Silver, M., Li, T., Isner, J.M., and Asahara, T. 2002. Endothelial progenitor cell vascular endothelial growth factor gene transfer for vascular regeneration. *Circulation* 105:732-738.
- 152. Jiang, M., Wang, B., Wang, C., He, B., Fan, H., Shao, Q., Gao, L., Liu, Y., Yan, G., and Pu, J. 2008. In vivo enhancement of angiogenesis by adenoviral transfer of HIF-1alpha-modified endothelial progenitor cells (Ad-HIF-1alpha-modified EPC for angiogenesis). *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 40:2284-2295.
- 153. Ludbrook, J. 1994. Repeated measurements and multiple comparisons in cardiovascular research. *Cardiovasc Res* 28:303-311.
- 154. Fathke, C., Wilson, L., Hutter, J., Kapoor, V., Smith, A., Hocking, A., and Isik, F. 2004. Contribution of bone marrow-derived cells to skin: collagen deposition and wound repair. *Stem Cells* 22:812-822.
- 155. Martin, S.S., Qasim, A., and Reilly, M.P. 2008. Leptin resistance: a possible interface of inflammation and metabolism in obesity-related cardiovascular disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 52:1201-1210.
- 156. Sasaki, M., Abe, R., Fujita, Y., Ando, S., Inokuma, D., and Shimizu, H. 2008. Mesenchymal stem cells are recruited into wounded skin and contribute to wound repair by transdifferentiation into multiple skin cell type. *J Immunol* 180:2581-2587.
- 157. Munzberg, H., Bjornholm, M., Bates, S.H., and Myers, M.G., Jr. 2005. Leptin receptor action and mechanisms of leptin resistance. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 62:642-652.
- 158. Munzberg, H., and Myers, M.G., Jr. 2005. Molecular and anatomical determinants of central leptin resistance. *Nat Neurosci* 8:566-570.
- 159. Kim, J.H., Sen, S., Avery, C.S., Simpson, E., Chandler, P., Nishina, P.M., Churchill, G.A., and Naggert, J.K. 2001. Genetic analysis of a new mouse model for non-insulin-dependent diabetes. *Genomics* 74:273-286.

- Kim, J.H., Stewart, T.P., Soltani-Bejnood, M., Wang, L., Fortuna, J.M., Mostafa, O.A., Moustaid-Moussa, N., Shoieb, A.M., McEntee, M.F., Wang, Y., et al. 2006. Phenotypic characterization of polygenic type 2 diabetes in TALLYHO/JngJ mice. *J Endocrinol* 191:437-446.
- 161. Bhatwadekar, A.D., Glenn, J.V., Li, G., Curtis, T.M., Gardiner, T.A., and Stitt, A.W. 2008. Advanced glycation of fibronectin impairs vascular repair by endothelial progenitor cells: implications for vasodegeneration in diabetic retinopathy. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 49:1232-1241.
- 162. Ingram, D.A., Lien, I.Z., Mead, L.E., Estes, M., Prater, D.N., Derr-Yellin, E., DiMeglio, L.A., and Haneline, L.S. 2008. In vitro hyperglycemia or a diabetic intrauterine environment reduces neonatal endothelial colony-forming cell numbers and function. *Diabetes* 57:724-731.

